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As we move beyond defibrillation, .
our focus remalns the same.
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Dear Shareholders, Customers, and Employees:

ZOLL ended fiscal 2004 in a strong position,
despite mixed sales petformance. We achieved
this position by continuing to focus on clinical
supen‘ﬁorﬁw, ease of use, and responsiveness
to customer needs. This strategy led to three
significant accomplishments:

o Doubling our sales in just four years to
$211.8 million (an increase of 15% from the
previous year).

o Achieving the number one position in the
North American Hospital market.

o Achieving record sales of $30.4 million in the
AED market, for a one-year increase of 61%,
nearly three times the rate of this rapidly
expanding marketplace.

We are pleased with these milestones, but disappointed
with earnings that were lower than anticipated. Net
income totaled $9.0 million, a decrease of 30% from
fiscal 2003. This result was due to lower-than-expected
sales growth that did not keep pace with our significant
investments in sales, marketing and R&D resources.
Nonetheless, ZOLL remains a financially healthy company
with a strong balance sheet. We ended fiscal 2004 with
no debt and with $59.0 million in cash and short-term
investments. In fiscal 2005, we expect to see continued
good revenue growth and increased earnings as we
leverage the investments made in fiscal 2004.

Solid Performance in Most of Qur Markets

We were pleased with North American Hospital market
sales, which increased 39% to a record $88.1 million,
making ZOLL the number one defibrillation company in
this market. As the clear choice of leading medical centers
nationwide, we are committed to continuing our growth
and maintaining this leadership position.

Conversely, we were disappointed by our International

sales for fiscal 2004, which decreased 10% to $41.3 million.

This was due primarily to significant prior year purchases
by the German Army, which did not repeat this year
In addition, there were internal business challenges,

particularly in the United Kingdom, which we are

addressing. Yet we believe our potential remains solid
because of our proven product superiority and unigue
clinical focus. We are strengthening our international
management structure to enhance the effectiveness of our
global sales force as it receives additional products to sell.
This effort is also aimed at areas where ZOLL has a new
presence, namely. China, India, and Eastern Europe.

Sales in the North American Pre-hospital market (EMS
and Public Access) increased by 3% to $62.4 million,
driven mainly by the increased sales of automated
external defibrillators (AEDs). Municipal spending
remained constrained during much of fiscal 2004, but
constraints are easing. As state and local government
budgets stabilize, we expect more funds to become
available for equipment purchases. With the expansion
of our Pre-hospital sales force, we should be able to
respond appropriately as this market rebounds.

Acquisitions Help to Broaden Qur Focus in
Resuscitation

Historically, our focus at ZOLL has been on developing
pacing and defibrillation products that deliver superior
clinical performance, rapid therapy, meaningful information,
high user confidence, and economic value. In executing this
strategy, we have gained a profound understanding not only
of the science of defibrillation but also of its context within
the larger area of resuscitation. This unique understanding
is one of the factors that has made us successful.

We will continue this success by broadening our offerings
into more areas of resuscitation, beginning with circulation
assistance. In October 2004, we acquired Revivant
Corporation, maker of the revolutionary AutoPulse™
Non-invasive Cardiac Support Pump, which treats victims
of sudden cardiac arrest (SCA). This acquisition is a
significant opportunity for ZOLL because we believe that
the AutoPulse is the most important advancement in
resuscitation science since the development of external
defibrillation. The market potential for this product is
equivalent to the worldwide professional defibrillator market,
currently estimated at $650 million.




ZOLL also announced agreements in the areas of fluid
resuscitation and early defibrillation. In March, ZOLL
acquired Infusion Dynamics Inc., maker of the Power Infuser®
which is designed for rapid intravenous fluid delivery for
trauma victims. In April, ZOLL announced a licensing
agreement with LIFECOR, Inc. to market a wearable
defibrillator for in-hospital use, the LifesPadz™ WCD
3000S System.These agreements show continued
dedication to expanding into more areas of resuscitation.

Bringing Our Unique View of Resuscitation

to Customers Worldwide

SCA is the single largest global health problem today,
claiming more than 460,000 lives annually in the US.
alone. While early defibrillation plays a vital role in
reducing mortality from SCA, improved CPR, perfusion,
and new technologies can save many more lives..
Additional technology is available today that can help
address this unmet clinical need. The considerable size

of the opportunity, combined with ZOLLs unique

focus and large specialized distribution aimed at this area,
makes the global resuscitation market attractive to ZOLL.

We have a comprehensive understanding of how
defibrillation, pacing, circulation, ventilation, fluid
resuscitation, and documentation technology together
can provide better ways to help advance resuscitation
practices. We also understand the broader distribution
model needed to bring a range of commercially viable
products to many markets. Through collaboration with
customers, ZOLL will offer cutting-edge products that
help improve life-saving efforts anywhere SCA strikes—
from the home to the hospital.

The opportunity is large, and ZOLL remains strong.
Continuing to focus on our core strengths will help us to
advance the practice of resuscitation and build our company.

Sincerely,

o B o

Richard A. Packer
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
December 2004

ZOLL Medical Corporation,
with its worldwide headquat%ters in
Chelmsford, Massachusetts, is committed to
developing technologies that help advance
the practice,of resuscitation.Witj:h products
for pacing, defibrillation, circulation,
ventilation, and fluid resuscitation,

ZOLL provides a comprehensive set of

technologies that can help clinicians, EMS
!

professionals, and lay rescuers resuscitate
sudden cardiac arrest (SCA) or trauma
victims. ZOLL also designs anc,i markets
software that automates the doc:umentation

and management of both clinical

and non-clinical data.

ZOLL has operations in the United States,
Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany,
France,The Netherlands,Aujstralia,
and Austria.With direct operations,
international offices, and businesjs partners
in all of the world’s major markets,
ZOLL markets and sells its products

in more than 140 countries.
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A Rich History of Solving Clinical Problems. More than 20 years ago, ZOLL’s focus

on solving clinical problems began with our first superior product that was easy to

use—an external pacemaker. ZOLU’s products have heiped clinicians help patients

wherever they are —from in-hospital, to cut-of-hospital, to public venues. Such

focus is a cornerstone of ZOLL.

1684: ZOLL NTP®
Introduced as our first non-invasive temporary external
pacemaker: It provided high capture rates, better patient

tolerance, and a clear recognition of capture.

1889: Multi-function Electrodes
First to combine well-tolerated pacing, effective
defibrillation, cardioversion, and monitoring in a single

pair of disposable electrodes.

1992: ZOLL PD 1400™

Smallest, lightest device of its kind for critical patient
transport and pre-hospital treatment. Includes ZOLLs
Uniform Operating System (UOS) designed to deliver

consistent user interface to simplify training and operation,

1998: M Series™

Most advanced, smallest and lightest defibrillator available,
First to provide a bright, high-contrast display of cardiac
rhythms.

1999: ZOLL Rectilinear Biphasic™ Waveform (RBW)
Superior defibrillation and cardioversion efficacy with

reduced energy. FDA clears ZOLL RBW to be labeled
clinically superior to monophasic for conversion of
ventricular fibrillation in high-impedance patients and
cardioversion of atrial fibrillation—a claim unmatched

by any other manufacturen

2002: ZOLL AED Plus™— The Only Full-Rescue AED
First AED to guide rescuers step-by-step through the
Chain of Survival and help with CPR. Simple pictures

and voice prompts make it the only AED/.‘\/FM\ 5
PN

that can help treat every SCA e T
victim. CPR-Depadz™ provides © 5 <’x0\,\\ L\
instant feedback on the depth N Zé\g\l\ & \\ J
and rate of CPR chest compressions. \\;2\}\;;»;@& =
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2004: CodeNet : \f \‘0%3 \ Y
First system to autornate resuscitation 8

documentation. With a PDA, clinicians can document more
accurately and completely than ever before. All event data
and defibrillator data can easily be integrated on one complete

timeline with one click of an icon.
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Introductory Note

The Company is filing this amendment to its Annual Report on Form 10-K originally filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 20, 2004. This Form 10-K/A is being filed for the purpose of
changing the Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, inserting our policy for research and
development expenses for software in Note A, and to fix typographical errors.




PARTI

Item 1. Business.
Overview

ZOLL develops technologies that help advance the practice of resuscitation. We market products for pacing,
defibrillation, circulation, fluid replacement, and a resuscitation product that incorporates technologies to provide
or aid ventilation. We also designs and markets software that automates the documentation and management of
both clinical and non-clinical data.

Our cardiac resuscitation products are designed to improve survival rates from sudden cardiac arrest
(“SCA™), which is a leading cause of death in the U.S. and worldwide. There are over 460,000 deaths each year
from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the U.S., and at least this many more outside the U.S. More than half of
these deaths occur suddenly without warning and about half of these are from ventricular fibrillation (“VF”). For
SCA victims, time is the most critical element for survival. For every minute of delay in providing defibrillation,
survival decreases by as much as ten percent. According to the American Heart Association (“AHA™), more than
95% of SCA victims in the U.S. die, in many cases because life-saving defibrillators arrive too late, if at all.

Additionally, our products are designed to help other collapsed victims whose survival can be increased by
providing more effective cardiopulmonary resuscitation (“CPR”) and improved circulation of blood during
cardiac arrest.

The importance of immediate treatment creates an annual worldwide market for external defibrillator
products, which we estimate to have been approximately $900 million in 2004. We divide this market into three
principal areas: the hospital, pre-hospital and public access defibrillation markets. The hospital market consists of
doctors, nurses and other medical personnel who use defibrillators in hospital settings. The pre-hospital market
consists of care providers such as paramedics, ambulance operators, emergency medical technicians, medically
trained firefighters, emergency medical personnel, and police. The public access market includes non-traditional
providers, primarily lay people, such as security guards and factory staffs, and other non-medically trained
personnel.

Our main line of defibrillators is the M Series™. M Series defibrillators are smaller and lighter than
competitive products, making them easier to carry and transport. We have clearance from the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA”) to label our M Series defibrillators equipped with our Rectilinear Biphasic™
waveform (“RBW?”) as being clinically superior to defibrillators with a monophasic waveform for particular uses.
We are the only company to have received such a claim of superiority on its biphasic waveform. We believe the
clinical superiority of our biphasic waveform, combined with product advantages including small size, light
weight, and relative ease of use offer compelling reasons for customers to choose our products. The strong
acceptance of the M Series in the North American hospital market has, we believe, given us the number one sales
position in market share in fiscal 2004.

Beyond manual defibrillation, the AED Plus™ is the first and only full-rescue automated external
defibrillator that addresses circulatory support. In March 2002, we introduced the AED Plus, which in addition to
defibrillation provides real-time feedback on the rate and depth of CPR chest compressions. No other AED on
the market offers such capability. Designed for the infrequent user, the AED Plus assists the user in defibrillation
and CPR and incorporates several unique and proprietary elements designed to provide more comprehensive
support for infrequent rescuers. The device also includes a highly simplified graphical user interface, one-piece
electrode pads, and easily obtained consumer batteries for operation. The AED Plus supports the complete Chain
of Survival (early access, early CPR, early defibrillation, early advanced care), helping rescuers with all SCA
victims—even those victims for which no defibrillating shock is advised.

The latest research on AED use suggests that rescuers will be advised to shock a victim about half of the
time an AED is used to treat sudden collapse. If no shock is administered, a rescuer should provide chest

1




compression and ventilation. (CPR) until other rescuers arrive to improve the victim’s chances of survival. For
that reason, ZOLL believes that an AED designed for the infrequent rescuer needs to provide the best possible
support for CPR. CPR is often associated with a return of a “shockable” ventricular rhythm, making defibrillation
possible later in the event. Rescuers therefore must be capable of both using the AED and providing temporary
circulatory support with CPR.

We see a large opportunity to improve resuscitation technology and outcomes through circulatory support.
Our October 2004 acquisition of Revivant Corporation, maker of the AutoPulse ™ Non-invasive Cardiac Support
Pump, was an important element of our overall strategy to address this opportunity. The AutoPulse is a new
revolutionary device that offers the promise of restoring normal blood flow in SCA victims while they are
undergoing CPR. We believe the AutoPulse addresses an unmet need in the field of resuscitation and that the
market potential for this device is as large as or larger than the current external defibrillator market. The
AutoPulse is an automated, portable, battery-operated device that is built around a backboard placed under the
victim to which is attached a disposable band, called the LifeBand™, which fastens across a victim’s chest. The
AutoPulse compresses the entire chest in a unique and consistent manner, circulating much more blood than
chest compressions provided by hand. The AutoPulse also improves the consistency of circulatory support and
reduces the manpower required to transport patients in cardiac arrest, while performing CPR. In its first year of
commercial availability, more than 90 U.S. customers have purchased the AutoPulse and have been actively
using it as part of their resuscitation protocols.

Our Business Strategy

Our strategy has been to focus on developing pacing and defibrillation products that deliver superior clinical
performance, rabid therapy, meaningful information, high user confidence, and economic value. In executing this
strategy, we have gained a special understanding not only of external cardiac pacing and defibrillation, critical
electrical therapies for survival, but also of their importance and relationship within the larger area of
resuscitation. We believe this understanding is one of the factors that have made us successful in external cardiac
defibrillation and we believe our experience and success in this area will translate into the broader market related
to all resuscitation products, which is a large and growing market driven by increasing clinical needs. We believe
we will continug to gain an increased share in both the domestic and international markets by offering superior
products for respscitation and through strengthening our distribution.

While we plan to increase our share in markets that we currently serve, we also seek future growth by
entering into néw markets with significant opportunities. We believe that the following elements may provide
current and longer-term growth to our business.

» Continue to Expand Sales of M Series Defibrillators. A major element of our business strategy is to
further capitalize on the success of the M Series defibrillator in order to increase our market share in the
hospital and pre-hospital markets. To date, the M Series is our best selling defibrillator. We plan to
increase our sales in these markets by expanding both domestic and international efforts by:

*  hiring additional salespeople;
° moving from selling through distributors to selling direct in international markets of a significant
size and where our market share is low; and

e increasing distributor sales in emerging markets.

We also plan to increase sales by incorporating and selling additional monitoring and display
capabilities on the M Series CCT (Critical Care Transport) units. The CCT, in combination with its
small size and weight makes it a desirable replacement unit for “transport monitors” because the
defibrillator and monitor are integrated into one convenient portable unit instead of two.

«  Compete in Public Safety and the Public Access Defibrillation Markets with a Well-differentiated
AED. The AED Plus is a device for the large and relatively untapped public access defibrillation
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market. Our device is relatively low-cost, easy to operate, and unique. We believe we can leverage our
experience selling to EMS personnel in our efforts to sell our device to first responders such as police
and firefighters. We also market our device to other non-traditional providers of healthcare and have
agreements with more than 200 independent distributors and manufacturers’ representatives to sell the
AED Plus.

In June 2002, as a result of the opportunities from the development of the AED Plus, we entered into a
multi-year distribution agreement with GE Medical Systems Information Technologies as part of an
expansion of our sales to physicians’ offices and clinics throughout the U.S. We now have General
Electric, Physicians Supply Services, and other indirect representatives penetrating this market as well
as dental offices and other ancillary health services facilities. We believe this gives us an excellent
opportunity to expand into a relatively unpenetrated market for defibrillators and resuscitation. '

* Seek Additional Growth Opportunities in the EMS Data Management Market. We believe that the
market for EMS data management solutions remains significant and relatively unpenetrated. We are
currently selling several products to this market. We have delivered integrated dispatch, clinical
information, data collection, data transfer, billing, and quality assurance software for sale to the EMS
market. We intend to leverage our existing relationships with purchasing decision-makers in this market
to sell our data management solutions. We intend to expand the sale of our products into the public
safety area. We believe our software solutions will be differentiated by our ability to offer a complete
data management solution that incorporates the clinical information collected by our defibrillators.

« Seek Additional Oppeortunities in the Area of Resuscitation, Beginning with Circulatory Support.
We believe there are additional untapped opportunities in the area of resuscitation outside of our core
business. We continue to broaden our product offering beyond the “shock.” This may include investing
in the securities of other companies and participating in joint venture agreements. In March and October
2004 respectively, we acquired Infusion Dynamics, Inc., manufacturer of the Power Infuser®; and
Revivant Corporation, manufacturer of the AutoPulse™ Non-invasive Cardiac Support Pump. We have
made investments in LIFECOR, Inc., manufacturer of the LifeVest ™ Wearable Defibrillator and the
Life-Padz™ WCD 3000S System, and Advanced Circulatory Systems, Inc, manufacturer of the
ResQPOD™ Circulatory Enhancer for Cardiac Arrest. With the help of our extensive and experienced
sales organization, sales of these products have the potential to expand our business in our current and
new markets.

Overview of Sudden Cardiac Arrest and Resuscitation Therapies

Sudden cardiac death results from the sudden, abrupt loss or disruption of heart function. This loss of heart
function, also known as sudden cardiac arrest (“SCA”), is caused by ventricular fibrillation (the heart beating too
rapidly and/or chaotically), or cardiac standstill from other non-fibrillation dysrhythmias such as pulseless
electrical activity. The Center for Disease Control estimates deaths from SCA at more than 460,000 per year,
making it a leading cause of death in the U.S. According to the AHA, early defibrillation of ventricular
fibrillation is the single most critical factor in rescuing a victim of SCA. Each minute of delay in returning the
heart to its normal pattern of beating decreases the chance of survival by 7% to 10%. Furthermore, there is an
increasing body of evidence, which states that other actions, in addition to defibrillation, must occur to maximize
the chance of a successful resuscitation. These actions comprise a Chain of Survival consisting of early access,
early CPR, early defibrillation, and early advanced care. Lay rescuers especially require appropriate training as
well as reminders about these actions during an actual SCA event.

The Human Heart. The normal human heart has four chambers and expands and contracts over 100,000
times each day. The two smaller, upper chambers are the atria, and the two larger, lower chambers are the
ventricles. The walls of the atria and the ventricles are made up of cardiac muscle, which contracts rhythmically
when stimulated by an electrical current. Normally, the heartbeat starts in the right atrium when a specialized
group of cells sends an electrical signal. This signal spreads through the atria and then moves to the ventricles.
As a result, the atria contract a fraction of a second before the ventricles. This exact pattern must be followed to
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ensure that the heart beats properly. This contraction and relaxation of the four chambers pumps blood to the
lungs and the rest of the body.

Arrhythmias are abnormal rhythms of the heart caused by insufficient circulation of oxygenated blood,
drugs, electrical shock, mechanical injury, disease, or other causes. The three types of arrhythmias that cardiac
defibrillators and external pacing technology treat are ventricular fibrillation and tachycardia, atrial fibrillation
and flutter, and symptomatic bradycardia. It is possible for a patient to experience more than one type of
arrthythmia during SCA. In these situations, it is important for trained rescuers to have equipment that has both
defibrillation and pacing capabilities.

Ventricular Fibrillation. Ventricular fibrillation is a condition in which disorganized electrical activity
causes the ventricles to contract in a rapid, unsynchronized, and uncoordinated fashion. When this occurs, an
insufficient amount of blood is pumped from the heart. Ventricular fibrillation is the most common arrhythmia
thought to cause SCA. The onset of ventricular fibrillation often occurs without warning and causes the heart to
cease pumping blood effectively. This sudden stopping of the heart is known as cardiac arrest, and is the cause of
sudden cardiac death.

The only accepted treatment for ventricular fibrillation is defibrillation, in which electrical current is
delivered to the heart to stop the fibrillation and permit the return of coordinated cardiac contractions. In
emergency situations, external defibrillation has conventionally been administered through hand-held paddles
placed on the patient’s chest. However, external defibrillation can also be administered through disposable
adhesive electrades, which we believe are safer and easier to use than paddles.

In sudden unexpected cardiac arrest, current research shows that by the time a device arrives at the side of
an arrest victim, about half are in ventricular fibrillation, which requires immediate defibrillation according to
current AHA recommendations. However, new research suggests that CPR before defibrillation in unwitnessed
cardiac arrest may be more effective than immediate defibrillation and the AHA is expected to review their
current recommendations relating to CPR and defibrillation during the development of new guidelines in 2005.
With an increased understanding of the mechanisms of cardiac arrest, the benefits of CPR, new technologies to
improve circulatory support, and the lower incidence of ventricular fibrillation, we expect a growing emphasis on
circulatory support in both the context of AED use and the AHA’s efforts to reduce deaths from SCA.

Atrial Fibrillation. The AHA estimates that close to 2 million Americans suffer from atrial fibrillation.
Atrial fibrillation is a condition in which disordered electrical activity causes the atria to contract in a rapid,
unsynchronized, and uncoordinated fashion. This inefficient contraction results in a smaller amount of blood
entering the ventricles, which in turn results in an insufficient level of circulation. Since blood is not pumped
completely out pf the atria, the blood can pool and clot. While not immediately life threatening, atrial fibrillation
can lead to sighiﬁcant health threats such as stroke. Over time, poorly functioning atria can also cause the
ventricles to work harder, wear out sooner and eventually lead to cardiac arrest.

Common forms of treatment for atrial fibrillation include cardioversion and drug therapies. During
cardioversion, a defibrillator delivers electrical current that is synchronized with a patient’s heartbeat to return
the atria to a normal rhythm. Cardioversion is usually an elective therapy, scheduled and performed in a

controlled environment. All of our manual defibrillators include cardioversion capability.

Bradycardia. Bradycardia is a condition in which the heart beats too slowly. The principal therapies for the
emergency treatment of bradycardia are drugs and temporary cardiac pacing, either or both of which may be used
to stimulate efféctive cardiac contractions and restore circulation. Cardiac pacing utilizes an electrical pulse to
stimulate the patient’s heartbeat. For the emergency treatment of bradycardia, there are two primary techniques
for temporary pacing: invasive endocardial pacing, in which a wire is inserted directly into the heart to provide
the electrical stimulus; and non-invasive temporary pacing, which uses gelled electrodes applied to the patient’s
chest to conduct an electrical stimulus. Non-invasive temporary pacing is an option on most of our defibrillators
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(not including AEDs) and is recommended as the first intervention for bradycardia in the AHA’s resuscitation
protocols.

Our Cardiac Resuscitation Products
* M Series Defibrillators

The M Series is an extensive line of defibrillators for both the hospital and pre-hospital markets. We
currently sell 11 models of this device ranging in list price from $5,500 to $31,000. The large number of models
reflects user selection and need for various features and options such as shock advisory capability, 12-lead ECG
and diagnostic operation, or data transmission features. The M Series defibrillator is our best selling product to
date and has been selected as the standard device in such places as Brigham and Women's Hospital, The Mayo
Clinic, Scripps Health System, The Johns Hopkins Hospitals, the U.S. Armed Forces, and the German Army. We
believe the clinical superiority of our Rectilinear Biphasic waveform (“RBW”); combined with product
advantages including portability, ease of use and the vivid screen display, offers compelling reasons for
customers to choose our M Series defibrillators. Our M Series is a standardized platform that allows for
expandable features. As a result, we believe that this will help maximize customer retention by reducing the need
for operator retraining and enhancing operator confidence.

We believe that our standard M Series defibrillators offer the following competitive advantages.

< Portability. The M Series defibrillator is the smallest, lightest, fully featured external defibrillator. It is
smaller and lighter than other leading devices in this class. This allows M Series defibrillators to be
easily carried and transported with patients.

* Ease of Use with Simple Controls. The M Series defibrillators enable users to efficiently configure
each unit, allowing local operating preferences to be individually programmed into each unit.
Additionally, M Series defibrillators offer multiple language labeling and voice prompts to meet both
domestic and international needs.

* Vivid Screen Display. One of the distinguishing features included in M Series defibrillators is a high
contrast screen. Our screen incorporates the most technologically advanced defibrillator display with a
wider viewing angle than any LCD display.

* Clinical Performance. In the area of defibrillation waveforms, the ZOLL RBW is the only biphasic
waveform to have clinically demonstrated superiority to monophasic waveforms for the defibrillation of
ventricular fibrillation in high impedance patients, as well as the cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. The
U.S. FDA allows ZOLL to make these unique superiority claims.

M Series defibrillators are designed to be upgradeable, allowing customers to add features depending upon
their individual needs. M Series defibrillators use our unique pacing technology, which has been clinically shown
to provide superior capture rates, lower mean capture thresholds, less muscle impact, and better patient tolerance.
Some of the features that we currently offer include the following:

* Complete Data Management. A code marker system follows protocols established by the AHA and
allows complete documentation of an event with our unique “one touch™ data annotation feature. The
record made of the event includes all information collected by the defibrillator and can be upgraded to
include an optional voice recording. All of this data is stored on a removable data card. This data can
also be transmitted electronically to other devices via a serial port,-built in modem, and Bluetooth®
wireless communications. This allows users significant flexibility in moving data for purposes of remote
consultation and recordkeeping. We have also developed software applications for the archiving and
trending of information related to resuscitation. A number of integrated software applications are called
RescueNet™ in the pre-hospital market and, introduced in May 2004, CodeNet™ for in-hospital use.
CodeNet is the first complete software system for in-hospital use documenting, managing, and
reviewing cardiac arrest event data,




. Diagnéstic 12-lead ECG with Interpretive Statement. The 12-lead feature enables a user to get a
diagnostic ECG, tracing, or a view of the heart’s electrical activity. 12-lead is used to provide rapid and
early identification of myocardial infarction, commonly called a heart attack, in the pre-hospital setting.
We pay royaities to GE Medical Systems (“GEMS”) on each 12-lead analysis program we sell.

s GEMS Muse Cardiology Information System. Our M Series defibrillators communicate directly with
the GEMS Information Technologies’ MUSE cardiology information system.” This MUSE interface
providps direct communication of pre-hospital 12-lead ECG data into GE’s MUSE information system,
eliminating the need for a dedicated receiving station or gateway.

e Pulse |[Oximetry. Pulse oximeters determine the oxygen saturation levels in blood (SpO,), allowing a
rapid identification of potential problems in the cardiopulmonary system. Since pulse oximeters can
help detect the onset of cardiovascular incidents, pulse oximetry is now widely used in both hospital and
pre-hgspital settings when monitoring patient vital signs. While conventional pulse oximeters do not
perform well during patient motion or in intense light, we use Masimo Corporation’s patented
technology that is designed to overcome these technical problems. We purchase circuit boards and
sensors from Masimo Corporation. We have a non-exclusive license to use the patented technology
incorporated in these parts, which we incorporate into our products.

« Capnpgraphy. Capnography, also known as EtCO,, is the measurement of the amount of carbon
dioxide being exhaled, allowing for rapid identification of potential problems in the cardiopulmonary
‘system. We purchase circuit boards and sensors from Respironics that provide this feature. In October
2004, we announced new plug-and-play mainstream and side stream EtCO, monitoring capability
designed for maximum ease of use in pre-hospital settings. Users can easily select the optimum CO,
monitoring method based on the patient’s condition.

¢ Non-invasive Blood Pressure Measurement. We developed a non-invasive blood pressure
meastrement capability, also known as NIBP, and integrated it into our M Series defibrillators. We
purchase circuit boards, hoses, and cuffs from SunTech Medical to provide this feature.

Critical Care Transport (CCT) Defibrillators

In October 2001, we introduced an M Series model designed for critical care transport, the CCT. Based on
an M Series platform, this model incorporates the same defibrillation and pacing technologies and general
elements of the M Series design, but adds significantly expanded monitoring, battery capacity, and display
capabilities. The CCT has a larger color display that shows three traces simultaneously, combined with the
addition of both non-invasive and invasive blood pressure measurement capability and temperature monitoring.
A model is also tested and certified for use on military aircraft. ‘

AED Pll@s Automated External Defibrillator

The AED Plus is a full-rescue AED designed for the public safety, first responder, and public access
defibrillator markets. This product is a simplified device that supports the AHA’s Chain of Survival (early
access, early defibrillation, early CPR, early advanced care). It is designed for the infrequent user and
incorporates features to assist rescuers in administering defibrillation and CPR. In addition to the device, we offer
a unique one-piece, long shelf life (four years) electrode system called CPR-Depadz™ as a key accessory to the
device. The device and electrode system incorporate a unique instantaneous feedback feature that helps rescuers
perform CPR chest compressions according to the AHA and the European Resuscitation Council (“ERC”)
guidelines. Other unique features include an LCD display that can be configured to display the ECG; a graphical
interface to rbnﬂnd rescuers how to use the device properly to follow the recommended life-saving steps; use of
low cost consumer lithium batteries available at retail stores; and the incorporation of an infrared-based
communications system for managing data collected during the use of the device. Support products include a
training unit that mimics the device’s operation and is used to teach early defibrillation and CPR skulls,
simulators t¢ demonstrate and test operation of the unit, carrying cases, wall boxes, and training materials. In
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fiscal 2004, we introduced a pediatric defibrillation capability for the AED Plus, which inciudes a special
algorithm specifically designed for the faster heart rate of a child (0-8 years of age). In addition, the AED Plus
delivers lower energy levels specific to a pediatric rescue. This pediatric capability makes the product especially
suitable for installation in schools.

Biphasic Waveforms

External defibrillators deliver current over time to the heart, which results in a defined waveform shape. One
type of waveform in use today is monophasic, meaning that current is delivered in a single pulse that flows in
one direction. Another type is the biphasic waveform, which in contrast, delivers current that first flows in a
positive direction for a period of time and then reverses direction so that it flows in a negative direction.

Biphasic waveforms were the first major advance in defibrillation technology since the adoption of the
monophasic waveform in the early 1960s. Users generally replace existing defibrillators for mechanical and other
reasons that are unrelated to any clinical advancement of a new defibrillator. Based on our sales and marketing
experience, we estimate that hospital users replace defibrillators after approximately seven to 10 years of service.
We believe, however, that the introduction of biphasic waveforms has accelerated the replacement of the
installed base of monophasic defibrillators. We believe this accelerated replacement has increased the size of the
annual market for our defibrillators. Biphasic waveforms for conventional defibrillators, used in hospitals and
EMS services by trained users, were broadly introduced to the market in 2000. Based on our estimates of the
replacement of monophasic defibrillators with biphasic devices, the penetration of biphasic defibrillators is
estimated to be approximately 30% to 40% of the installed base of defibrillators.

Our Biphasic Waveform

Our primary competitors offer biphasic waveforms using the same general waveform shape. However, we
have developed a uniquely shaped biphasic waveform which achieves higher efficacy at lower current levels than
monophasic waveforms. Our biphasic waveform reduces the heart’s exposure to high peak current. In addition,
our biphasic waveform keeps the waveform shape and duration constant over a wide range of patients whose
differing physiologies impact the conduction of current.

We recently sponsored ORBIT (Out of Hospital Rectilinear Biphasic Investigation and Trial) which
analyzed 436 cardiac arrest patients. ORBIT is the world’s largest and most comprehensive study ever
undertaken in an out-of-hospital setting to look at the advantages of biphasic waveforms for defibrillation. The
trial was the first of its kind to look at the effectiveness of biphasic defibrillation in the advanced life support
setting, where down times can be significantly longer than those in the basic life support setting. The prospective,
randomized controlled trial found that RBW defibrillation was superior to monophasic damped sine (MDS)
waveform defibrillation for patients initially presenting in a shockable rhythm in an advanced cardiac life support
setting. Additionally, shock success for the 200 joules (J) ZOLL RBW was superior to the 360 J MDS waveform
for defibrillation of all out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients regardless of the presenting rhythm.

A retrospective study of 1,887 external cardioversion procedures in 1,361 patients was performed, and a
subgroup analysis of 140 patients demonstrated that the ZOLL RBW successfully cardioverted patients weighing
300 to 430 pounds with an average energy reserve of 37 J, achieving a 100% success rate. The reserve provides
an additional therapeutic margin for patients that are difficult to defibrillate.

A prospective randomized study showed that the ZOLL RBW provided superior defibrillation performance
in a porcine pediatric model, when compared to another commercially available biphasic waveform, in terms of
energy dose per body weight and per heart weight.

Our M Series defibrillator equipped with our biphasic waveform is the only device cleared by the FDA to be
labeled clinically superior to monophasic defibrillators for conversion of ventricular fibrillation in high-
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impedance .patients, those patients who are difficult to defibrillate, and for cardioversion of all atrial fibrillation
patients. We therefore believe that our proprietary biphasic waveform is superior to the biphasic waveform
utilized by any of our competitors. We believe that our proprietary biphasic waveform will offer compelling
clinical benefits that should give customers a reason to choose our biphasic defibrillators over those of our
competitors.

We have received seven U.S. patents covering various aspects of our novel biphasic waveform technology.
Several correspanding foreign patents are still pending,

Disposable Electrodes

We offer a variety of single-patient-use, proprietary disposable electrodes for use with our resuscitation
devices. Among our primary competitors, we are the only company to engineer and manufacture our own
electrodes. We ;have continually innovated and upgraded our electrode product line, including the pro-padz™
Biphasic Multi-function Electrodes specifically designed for use with the ZOLL Rectilinear Biphasic waveform
for cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. In fiscal 2002, we introduced, in conjunction with our AED Plus
defibrillator, the unique one-piece CPR-D Padz electrode, which provides feedback on the quality of CPR
compressions. Qur margins for electrodes are generally higher than our margins for devices. We hope to sell
more disposable electrodes in the future as more customers recognize the benefits of electrodes, which are safer
than traditional paddles for an operator of a defibriliator.

| . \

Another factor that might lead to higher electrode sales is the use of interpretive algorithms for automated
defibrillation. The monitoring required to assess the patient’s condition can only be achieved with electrodes and
not with the traditional defibrillation paddles. Additionally, the use of automated external defibrillators in non-
medical settingé, and the CPR-D Padz electrode introduced with the AED Plus, will also contribute to our
electrode revenues in the future.

Qur Current Market

We divide, our market for non-invasive cardiac resuscitation equipment into three principal customer/
geographic categories: North American hospital; North American pre-hospital, which consists of a public safety
component and a public access component; and international. The pre-hospital public safety market consists of
care providers such as paramedics, ambulance operators, emergency medical technicians, firefighters, police, and
other first respdnse personnel with responsibilities for public safety. The pre-hospital public access market
includes non-traditional responders to medical emergencies who have been trained to use automated external
defibrillators. This would include security personnel, staffs in occupational settings, school personnel, and office
staff. The international market includes both hospital and pre-hospital customers outside of North America.

.

North American Hospital Market. The U.S. hospital market consists of approximately 6,000 acute care
community hospitals and 1,000 additional hospitals. We also include military hospitals and applications in this
market. Presentl&, ZOLL defibrillators are used extensively in the top 30 cardiac hospitals in the U.S. as listed by
U.S. News and World Report in July 2004.

Hospitals have traditionally used cardiac resuscitation equipment, both for patients admitted with sudden
cardiac arrest and for patients at risk of SCA undergoing other treatments. Many hospital procedures such as
surgery, cardiac catheterization, stress testing, and general anesthesia may induce arrhythmias or SCA, and
hospitals frequently use cardiac resuscitation devices on a standby basis in connection with these procedures.
Since immediaté treatment is the critical factor for successful cardiac resuscitation, hospitals typically place
resuscitation devices throughout their facilities, including the cardiac and critical care units, emergency rooms,
operating rooms, electrophysiology laboratories, and general wards. The importance of early defibrillation has
also resulted in the installation of defibrillators with AED capability in hospital clinical areas for rapid use by the

professional clinical staff. Lower cost, simplified AEDs have also been installed in non-clinical areas such as
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lobbies, food service areas, and parking facilities for operation by hospital staff, including security personnel, in
the event of a cardiac arrest outside of patient units. Hospitals also use portable devices during in-hospital
transportation of cardiac patients.

North American EMS Market. Most SCAs and heart attacks occur outside of the hospital. Due to the
importance of immediate treatment, there is a substantial market for portable cardiac resuscitation equipment
designed for use by various emergency responders. The most highly trained segment of the pre-hospital market is
comprised of paramedics, who are authorized and trained to use defibrillators to treat SCA. In addition,
paramedics are becoming increasingly aware of external pacing as a standard of care for the treatment of
bradycardia. We believe the use of combination pacemakers/defibrillators will become more widespread in the
pre-hospital setting. Paramedics are also able to use more advanced diagnostics, such as diagnostic 12-lead.
Emergency medical technicians, who are authorized to use automated external defibrillators, comprise a
significant portion of the potential pre-hospital market as well.

We believe the opportunity for growth in the under-penetrated pre-hospital market encompassing public
safety responders and vehicles is large. Presently, we believe that approximately 80% of the estimated 35,000
ambulances in the U.S. are equipped with defibrillators. We believe that the number of ambulances equipped
with defibrillators will reach 100%, and that other first response emergency vehicles will represent an
increasingly important market for cardiac resuscitation equipment as the medical community places increased
priority on providing such equipment and the necessary training to all first responders. We believe that as older
defibrillators are replaced on ambulances and other emergency vehicles, they will include additional monitoring
capabilities and features necessary to provide better patient care. We believe we are well positioned to respond to
these needs with superior products.

Public Access Defibrillation Market. This market includes non-traditional, non-healthcare users of
automated external defibrillators such as the AED Plus. We believe this market is growing because of the
increased awareness of the lifesaving potential of simplified lower cost devices, which can be used before the
arrival of professional rescuers. Efforts by the AHA, American Red Cross, National Safety Council, and National
Center for Early Defibrillation should help to expand public knowledge of AEDs and increase the demand for
these devices.

Virtually any location with a large number of people has the potential for the purchase and installation of an
AED. The incorporation of AED use in all CPR training exposes more people to this lifesaving technology,
increasing awareness and potential adoption. Focus on AEDs by the AHA, the American Red Cross, and similar
organizations affirms the public health benefit, also driving the adoption of this technology in places like
businesses, factories, schools, and the home.

International Market. The international market for defibrillators is less developed than the market in the
U.S. In some international markets, unlike the U.S. market, the administration of pacing and defibrillation in
hospitals and EMS is generally viewed as a skill reserved for physicians. Few other staff members are trained to
administer such treatment, although this is changing. The international market for defibrillators for use outside of
hospitals varies considerably from country to country, but is generally less developed than the market in North
America.

We believe that the international market for defibrillators will grow for a number of reasons.

» The international hospital market for defibrillators is expected to grow as more hospitals are built and
existing hospitals modernize and update their approaches to cardiac and emergency care.

+ Emerging standards of care and the acceptance of automated equipment could result in increased use of
cardiac resuscitation equipment by a broader range of healthcare personnel in the international market.

* The ERC, the British Heart Foundation, and virtually all cardiac-oriented organizations in Europe, as
well as the Australian Resuscitation Council, have strongly supported initiatives to expand the
availability of defibrillators as a major public health initiative.
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° Externa‘l‘] pacing is used much less frequently in Europe and other parts of the world than it is in the U.S.,
but many countries are beginning to implement cardiac life support protocols which incorporate external
pacing @as a standard component. Because most international defibrillators do not presently feature
external pacing, the move to defibrillators with external pacing could drive the international demand for
defibrillators with external pacing, including our M Series defibrillators.

¢ The market for public access defibrillation is rapidly growing in Western Europe and Australia as the
governments of these regions have begun to lessen the restrictions on physician-only administration of
defibrillation. As other international markets begin to follow, there will be additional opportunities for
government-driven programs.

We believe! that we can take advantage of the growth in the international market for defibrillators, based on
the continued success of the M Series defibrillators, our superior biphasic waveform and our public access
defibrillator, the, AED Plus.

Qur Market Opportunities
Public Access Defibrillation Using AEDs

There are éver 460,000 deaths each year from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the U.S. Estimates are that
more than half of these deaths occur suddenly. Placing simplified automated external defibrillators, like the AED
Plus, in the hands of designated first responders who can rapidly administer defibrillation to victims of SCA is a
practical strategy to save lives, since immediate defibrillation results in more than 90% survival. In contrast, a
delay of 4-5 minutes decreases survival to 15-40% and a delay of 10 minutes results in death 95% of the time.

With a growing understanding of this major public health problem in the U.S. and most developed countries,
initiatives on many fronts across the world are underway to encourage the widespread deployment of
defibrillators. The public access market is rapidly expanding. We believe this trend will continue since there is no
other effective treatment for SCA due to ventricular fibrillation other than defibrillation, and the capacity of
public safety services to shorten response times from their current average of §-10 minutes will always be
limited. We also expect that there will be a growing understanding of how to use an AED in conjunction with
CPR support. Additionally, there will be ongoing public health initiatives designed to help reduce deaths and
improve resuscitation outcomes associated with this major public health problem. Such efforts will increase the
demand for products designed to improve CPR support during resuscitation efforts.

The passage of U.S. Federal and State Good Samaritan legislation increases the likelihood that non-
medically trained personnel will be providing care to victims of SCA. The AHA and virtually all corresponding
international organizations have established programs to bring early defibrillation to communities. Early
defibrillation isiincluded in the AHA CPR training for all healthcare personnel and some laypersons. In the U.S.,
government activities at both state and federal levels continue to promote placement of AEDs in schools, nursing
homes, health ¢lubs, and other public places. In addition, new legislation expands AED usage by non-traditional
users including police, fire, and highway patrol personnel. We believe that these developments, together with the
introduction of AEDs in highly visible places, will lead to a larger market for AEDs.

We are using a direct sales force to sell our AEDs to the public safety market, and a mix of alternate
distribution, in¢luding direct staff, distributors, and manufacturers’ representatives, in those markets that are too
small to suppor{t a direct sales force. We expect that this market can be serviced by other alternative distribution
methods, such as e-commerce, that can supplement and reduce our need for an expensive sales force.

The need for early defibrillation is not confined solely to the out of hospital market place. There is
increasing interest in “time to defibrillation” in the hospital setting where patients who are not monitored or
disconnected from monitors may experience cardiac arrest and a delay in either response or treatment. Hospitals
are increasingly looking for new technologies that can help them protect patients from events like SCA or allow
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them to move patients to less acute beds earlier to reduce the cost of their admission. We believe the LifeCOR
Wearable Defibrillator technology we offer fits this shift in emphasis and believe it will provide us new
opportunities in the hospital market related to the epitome of “early defibrillation”, a non-invasive defibrillator
that can be worn by a patient.

Devices to Improve Perfusion During Resuscitation

Manual chest compressions, a component of CPR are a widely taught required skill for all health
professionals and public safety employees. It is extensively taught as a lifesaving skill for laypersons. CPR
provides a temporary means to circulate blood in a person whose heart has effectively stopped pumping. An
example would be an episode of ventricular fibrillation where CPR would be administered to provide temporary
support until defibrillation with an AED occurred.

Providing temporary circulatory and ventilatory support is critical for patient survival and without CPR, the
patient in cardiac arrest will sustain severe, permanent brain and heart tissue injury as a result of the lack of
oxygenation of these tissues due to an interruption of normal blood flow These injuries are generally inconsistent
with survival. Conversely, the provision of adequate circulatory support with CPR has been shown to sustain
patients for extensive periods of time with little or no evidence of injury after resuscitation. CPR has however,
inherent limits by its marginal (about 25%-30%) perfusion in relationship to the normally beating heart. It is a
physically demanding skili requiring significant stamina to be performed well over time without deterioration, It
must be done in an uninterrupted manner in order to have maximum benefit, a challenge not easily met when
moving patients especially in the pre-hospital setting.

The ZOLL AutoPulse is an important new device that provides similar temporary circulatory support during
cardiac arrest as do manual chest compressions. The comparison related to the differences between the two are
however dramatic; clinical studies in both animals and humans of the AutoPulse suggest it may be able to
circulate an equal amount of blood as a normally beating heart and achieve critical levels of perfusion related to
survival from cardiac arrest. The device is portable and battery powered so it can reduce interruptions in
circulatory support during patient movement from buildings or in transport. We believe these two factors will
drive the adoption of this technology

The goal during CPR is to provide temporary support until the underlying problem causing the cardiac arrest
can be identified and corrected (as in the defibrillation of ventricular fibrillation) and normal circulation restored.
In the case of the AutoPulse it appears to be capable of restoring normal circulation while the problem is being
identified and corrected.

We believe the opportunity for the AutoPulse as the market matures is at least as large as our current market
for defibrillators. Additional clinical studies were begun in 2004 to further demonstrate the efficacy and
superiority of the device’s performance and its effect on patient outcomes. We expect the results of these studies
will impact the adoption of the AutoPulse due to its superior clinical effects and this will ultimately drive
adoption such that an AutoPulse is deployed wherever a defibrillator is deployed now in the professional
defibrillator market.

We also have additional opportunity in the area of fluid resuscitation critical to adequate circulation in the
trauma patient suffering from acute hemorrhagic blood loss. Unless treated correctly these patients bleed to death
due to inadequate blood volume replacement to support them until surgical repair of their traumatic injuries. Air
filled bladders have been used for decades to infuse fluids under pressure by squeezing bags containing
intravenous solutions used to replace the lost blood through an intravenous line placed in a patient. Blood 1s also
administered in essentially the same way as these other fluids. Our Power Infuser device replaces the pressure
bag. The Power Infuser is clinically superior to this traditional method and is being used routinely by the Armed
Services to provide a highly effective high rate of volume infusion to replace lost blood under precise control in
the combat setting. We plan to bring this technology to civilian application in the treatment of trauma victims in
the future.
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Expand EMS Market Share

We currently have a much smaller share of the EMS market in North America than our leading competitor.
We expect our new product pipeline, superior product conception and design, product synergies for distribution,
data synergies and a professional sales organization will be able to continue to take market share.

Expand International Business

We have a relatively low share of most of the international markets. In Europe the situation is more mixed
due in part to our direct sales representatives in the major markets of UK and Germany, where we have achieved
more success. 'We plan to continue to follow a strategy of customer exposure to the superiority of our products
through the u$e of professional direct sales representatives while expanding our indirect distribution where
appropriate Our new product plans, superior product conception and design, synergies of distribution, data
synergies and & professional sales organization should allow us to increase our share of this market.

EMS Data Management Solutions

We have developed a series of software products (RescueNet™) to address what we consider to be a
growing need in the EMS market for an integrated data management system. RescueNet provides our customers
with a single data management system that integrates dispatch, resuscitation information, field data collection,
mobile vehicle data communication, billing, resource planning and scheduling, and quality assurance functions.
With the seamless integration as the leverage, a majority of our EMS customers have purchased more than one of
the products from the RescueNet Suite, such as the dispatch and billing systems. :

Today, most EMS data is entered by hand on clipboards and then distributed or re-entered manually into
databases to mei‘f,t regulatory and insurance reporting requirements. The timeliness, accuracy and efficiency of
this process are key factors in the receipt of payments from third-party payers. Capturing the resuscitation
information within the field data system and wirelessly downloading all the field data to the billing system
provides great efficiency. A significant amount of revenue is lost due to data entry errors, and misplaced
paperwork or data. Time is lost duplicating data entries. As a result, we believe that the market for EMS field
data management|is significant and growing rapidly. ‘

Competition

Our principal competitors in the U.S. are the Emergency Response Systems Division of Medtronic Inc. (also
known as Physio-Control) and Royal Philips Electronics. Both Physio-Control and Philips compete across our
entire defibrillator product line. We also compete with Cardiac Science, Inc., Welch Allyn, HeartSine
Technologies, and Defibtech in the lower cost AED market. In the international market we compete with Physio-
Control, Philips, most AED competitors, and several other companies depending upon the country. Physio-
Control is generally the market leader in the industry.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in the hospital market for cardiac resuscitation equipment
are chinical efficacy, reliability, portability, ease-of-use, and standardization. In the pre-hospital market, in
addition to the forégoing considerations, durability, a reliable battery system, and availability of 12-lead ECG
capabilities are significant competitive factors. We believe that our products compete favorably with respect to
each of these factors.

Non-invasive temporary pacemakers and external defibrillators, such as those we sell, are used in
emergency situations and, accordingly, do not compete with permanent, implantable pacemakers or defibrillators
that are used to treat chronic arthythmias. In fact, the products are complementary, because emergency cardiac
resuscitation is oftenirequired during the implantation of a permanent device.
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We believe that principal competitive factors in the public access market include:
»  User simplicity, convenience, and ease of use;
* Value; and

» Support services and training
Our AED Plus competes favorably with respect to each of these factors.

The business of developing and marketing software for data collection, billing, dispatching and management
in the EMS market is competitive. Competitors in this business include Medusa Medical Technologies, Inc,
Healthware Technologies, Inc., Safety Pad Software, Geac Computer Corporation, Ltd., DocuMed, Inc., Tritech
Software Systems, Inc., Ortivus AB, RAM Software Systems, Inc., Intergraph Corporation, and AmbPac, Inc.
None of these competitors currently has a product that provides an integrated solution comparable to the
RescueNet products. Physio-Control and Medusa have a marketing arrangement through which Physio-Control’s
salespeople are promoting the Medusa field data solution.

We develop and market software for data collection related to resuscitation practices in hospitals. We offer a
system called Code Net™ to provide data collection during resuscitation and to later organize this data into useful
information related to performance measures for resuscitation practices. Two of our competitors in the hospital
market offer some products -that are similar but generally much more limited in scope and capability than our
Code Net products.

Research and Development

Our research and development strategy is to continually improve and expand our product lines by
combining existing proprietary technologies, newly developed proprietary technologies and the technologies of
our best in class partners into new product offerings that provide additional valued benefits to our customers. We
pursue a multi-disciplinary approach to product design that includes substantial electrical, mechanical, software
and biomedical engineering efforts. We are currently focusing our research and development programs on data
management, additional product variants of the M Series and AED Plus product lines, next generation product
platforms, continued clinical trials, expansion of our long-term technical research efforts, and other initiatives.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing facilities are located in Chelmsford, Massachusetts and Pawtucket, Rhode Island. In
Chelmsford, we generally assemble our devices from components produced to our specifications by our
suppliers. In Pawtucket, we manufacture our electrode products. As of March 2004, as the result of our
acquisition of Infusion Dynamics, Inc., we have a manufacturing facility located in Plymouth Meeting,
Pennsylvania, where the Power Infuser is manufactured. As of October 2004, as a result of our acquisition of
Revivant Corporation, we also have a manufacturing facility located in Sunnyvale, California, where the
AutoPulse is manufactured.

Patents and Proprietary Information

Seven U.S. patents have now been issued covering various aspects of our unique biphasic waveform
technology. Several corresponding foreign patents relating to this waveform technology are still pending.

We have filed several new U.S. and foreign patent applications covering novel technology related to our
pacing and defibrillation electrodes. Two electrode patents were issued during fiscal 2004 and several others are still
pending. These patents supplement other electrode patents issued in the United States, Europe and Japan. During
fiscal 2004, we filed eleven U.S. patent applications for our AED Plus defibrillator and related CPR technologies.
These and others are still pending. During fiscal 2004, we filed additional patent applications related to pacing,
defibrillation and other resuscitation therapies. Patents were also applied for related to ZOLL Data Systems
software.
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As a result of our acquisition of Revivant Corporation, ten additional patents as well as a number of patent
applications related to various CPR and chest compression technologies are now our property.

|
Employees

As of October 3, 2004, we employed 949 people on a full-time basis, 868 in the United States and 81
internationally. We also employed 24 part-time employees. None of our employees are subject to collective
bargaining agreements. We believe that our relations with our employees are excellent.

Marketing and Sales

We operate with sales and managerial staff comprised of direct representatives and their managers,
distribution managers, special account representatives, distributors and manufacturer’s representatives
throughout the world. In the United States, the staff is split into dedicated groups, focused on the hospital, pre-
hospital, and public access markets. In the United States, we sell products directly to hospitals and EMS and
through distributor and other indirect channels in the public access market. The organization is similar in our
international markets, and a mix of both direct and indirect channels are maintained relative to a country’s size
and business potential. We sell our RescueNet products through a separate dedicated sales force. In the United
States, we currently have 68 sales representatives and managers calling on hospitals, 54 calling on EMS
accounts, 31 calling on public access accounts (both direct customers and distributors), and 14 selling our data
management products. Internationally, we have seven sales representatives in Canada, eight in the United
Kingdom, one in the Netherlands, seven in France, eight in Australia, eight in Germany, one in Austria, and 10
international territory managers handling our sales where we sell through local distributors.

We do not prically maintain a significant backlog in our business. Our sales force must sell most of each
quarter’s revenue in that quarter. We are now attempting to begin the process of building a small permanent
backlog to reduce the pressure on our factory to ship all orders that come in at the end of a quarter.

Government Rejgulation

The manufacture and sale of our products are subject to extensive regulation by numerous governmental
authorities, principally by the FDA and corresponding foreign agencies. The FDA administers the Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act and the regulations promulgated there under. We are subject to the standards and
procedures withirespect to the manufacture of medical devices and are subject to inspection by the FDA for
compliance with'such standards and procedures.

|

The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes depending on the degree of risk associated with
each medical device and the extent of control needed to ensure safety and effectiveness. Our manual
defibrillation and pacing products have been classified by the FDA as Class II devices. Our AED products have
been classified as Class III devices. These devices must secure a 510(k) pre-market notification clearance before
they can be introduced into the United States market. The process of obtaining 510(k) clearance typically takes
several months and may involve the submission of limited clinical data supporting assertions that the product is
substantially equivalent to an already approved device or to a device that was on the market before the enactment
of the Medical Device Amendments of 1976.

Every company that manufactures or assembles medical devices is required to register with the FDA and
adhere to certain “good manufacturing practices in accordance with the FDA’s Quality System Regulation which
regulates the manufacture of medical devices, prescribes record keeping procedures and provides for the routine
inspection of facilities for compliance with such regulations. The FDA also has broad regulatory powers in the
areas of clinical|testing, marketing and advertising of medical devices.




Medical device manufacturers are routinely subject to periodic inspections by the FDA. If the FDA believes
that a company may not be operating in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, it can:

* place the company under observation and re-inspect the facilities;
* issue a warning letter apprising of violating conduct;

* detain or seize products;

+ mandate arecall;

* enjoin future violations; and

e assess civil and criminal penalties against the company, its officers or its employees.

We are also subject to regulation in each of the foreign countries in which we sell our products. Many of the
regulations applicable to our products in such countries are similar to those of the FDA. The national health or
social security organizations of certain countries require our products to be qualified before they can be marketed
in those countries.

Investor Information

Financial and other information relating to the Company can be accessed from the Company’s main Internet
website (http://www.zoll.com) by clicking on “Investor Relations”. Information on our website is not part of our
annual report. The Company makes available, free of charge, copies of its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material electronically
or otherwise furnishing it to the SEC. A copy may also be obtained upon written request to the Company at:
Stockholder Relations, ZOLL Medical Corporation, 269 Mill Road, Chelmsford, MA 01824-4105.

Risk Factors

If We Fail to Compete Successfully in the Future against Existing or Potential Competitors, Our Operating
Results May Be Adversely Affected

Our principal global competitors with respect to our entire cardiac resuscitation equipment product line are
Medtronic Emergency Response Systems (Physio-Control) and Royal Philips Electronics. Physio-Control is a
subsidiary of Medtronic, Inc., a leading medical technology company. Physio-Control has been the market leader
in the defibrillator industry for over twenty years. As a result of Physio-Control’s dominant position in this
industry, many potential customers have relationships with Physio-Control that could make it difficult for us to
continue to penetrate the markets for our products. In addition, Physio-Control, its parent and Royal Philips
Electronics and other competitors each have significantly greater resources than we do. Accordingly, Physio-
Control, Royal Philips Electronics and other competitors could substantially increase the resources they devote to
the development and marketing of products that are competitive with ours. These and other competitors may
develop and successfully commercialize medical devices that directly or indirectly accomplish what our products
are designed to accomplish in a superior and/or less expensive manner. In addition, although our biphasic
waveform technology is unique, our competitors have devised alternative biphasic waveform technology. We
have also licensed our biphasic waveform technology to GE Medical Systems Information Technologies.

There are a number of smaller competitors in the United States, which include Welch Allyn, Inc., Cardiac
Science, Inc., HeartSine Technology, and Defibtech. Internationally, we face the same competitors as in the
United States as well as Nihon Kohden, Corpuls, Schiller, and other local competitors. It is possible the market
may embrace these competitors’ products which could negatively impact our market share.

In addition to external defibrillation and external pacing with cardiac resuscitation equipment, it is possible
that other alternative therapeutic approaches to the treatment of sudden cardiac arrest may be developed. These
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alternative therapies or approaches, including pharmaceutical or other alternatives, could prove to be superior to
our products.

There is significant competition in the business of developing and marketing software for data collection,
billing, dispatching and management in the emergency medical system market. Our principal competitors in this
business includé Medusa Medical Technologies, Inc. Healthware Technologies, Inc., Safety Pad Software, Geac
Computer Corporation, Ltd., DocuMed, Inc., Tritech Software Systems, Inc., Ortivus AB, RAM Software
Systems, Inc., Intergraph Corporation and AmbPac, Inc., some of which have greater financial, technical,
research and development and marketing resources than we do. Because the barriers to entry in this business are
relatively low, additional competitors may easily enter this market in the future. It is possible that systems
developed by competitors could be superior to our data management system. Consequently, our ability to sell our
data management system could be materially affected and our financial results could be materially and adversely
affected. ‘

Our Operating Results are Likely to Fluctuate Which Could Cause Our Stock Price to be Volatile, and the
Anticipation of a Volatile Stock Price Can Cause Greater Volatility

Our quarterly and annual operating results have fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate. Various factors
have and may continue to affect our operating results, including:

* high demand for our products which could disrupt our normal factory utilization and cause shipments to
occur in uneven patterns;

°  variations in product orders;
° timing bf new product introductions;

o temporéry disruptions on buying behavior due to changes in technology (e.g. shift to biphasic
technology);

o changes in distribution channels;

= ‘actions|taken by our competitors such as the introduction of new products or the offering of sales
incenti\lzes;

e the ability of our sales forces to effectively market our products;

e supply interruptions from our single source vendors;

* temporary manufacturing disruptions;

» regulatory actions, including actions taken by the FDA or similar agencies; and

e delays in obtaining domestic or foreign regulatory approvals.

A large percentage of our sales are made toward the end of each quarter. As a consequence, our quarterly
financial results are often dependent on the receipt of customer orders in the last weeks of a quarter. The absence
of these orders could cause us to fall short of our quarterly sales targets, which in turn could cause our stock price

to decline sharply. As we grow in size, and these orders are received closer to the end of a period, we may not be
able to manufacture, test, and ship all orders in time to recognize the shipment as revenue for that quarter.

Based on these factors, period-to-period comparisons should not be relied upon as indications of future
performance. Inlanticipation of less successful quarterly results, parties may take short positions in our stock. The
actions of parties shorting our stock might cause even more volatility in our stock price. The volatility of our
stock may cause the value of a stockholder’s investment to decline rapidly.
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The AED PAD (Public Access Defibrillation) Business is New to Us. If We are Not Successful in Competing
In This Market, OQur Operating Results May be Affected.

The PAD market has many dynamics. This market involves many new types of non-traditional healthcare
distributors, and the efficiency of these distributors may not be as robust as we expect. These new types of
distributors may present credit risks since they may not be well established and mady not have the necessary
business volumes. In addition, we may not be successful in gaining market acceptance of our AED Plus into
alternative PAD markets if our PAD Distributors are not successful. Also, our focus upon the PAD market may
distract our operations from our core M Series business. All of these items could cause our operating results to be
unfavorably affected.

We have noticed that as the PAD market has grown, there have been an increasing number of smaller, start-
up companies entering the market. In order to gain market share, these companies compete mainly on price. If
these companies are able to capture a larger market share with lower prices, this may cause declining prices and
negatively affect our operating results.

Two of our major competitors have entered the home market. We also sell to the home market and if our
plan turns out to be less effective or efficient, we might have difficulty building market share.

We May be Required to Implement a Costly Product Recall

In the event that any of our products proves to be defective, we can voluntarily recall, or the FDA could
require us to redesign or implement a recall of any of our products. Both our larger competitors and we have, on
numerous occasions, voluntarily recalled products in the past, and based on this experience, we believe that
future recalls could result in significant costs to us and significant adverse publicity, which could harm our ability
to market our products in the future. Though it is not possible to quantify the economic impact of a recall, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example,
in 2004, we issued a device safety alert on some M Series with the AED feature to correct a potential problem
that some of the units may have with the software installed on them. Under certain conditions, the unit may skip
the “press shock™ screen prompt after correctly advising the user of a shockable ECG rhythm, charging, and
enabling/illuminating the shock button. The devices were operating properly in all other respects. The cost of
implementing this corrective action was less than $50,000.

Changes in the Healthcare Industry May Require Us to Decrease the Selling Price for Our Products or Could
Result in a Reduction in the Size of the Market for Our Products, Each of Which Could Have a Negative
Impact on Our Financial Performance

Trends toward managed care, healthcare cost containment, and other changes in government and private
sector initiatives in the United States and other countries in which we do business are placing increased emphasis
on the delivery of more cost-effective medical therapies which could adversely affect the sale and/or the prices of
our products. For example:

* major third-party payers of hospital and pre-hospital services, including Medicare, Medicaid and private
healthcare insurers, have substantially revised their payment methodologies during the last few years
which has resulted in stricter standards for reimbursement of hospital and pre-hospital charges for
certain medical procedures;

»  Medicare, Medicaid and private healthcare insurer cutbacks could create downward price pressure in the
cardiac resuscitation pre-hospital market;

* numerous legislative proposals have been considered that would result in major reforms in the U.S.
_ healthcare system that could have an adverse effect on our business;

» there has been a consolidation among healthcare facilities and purchasers of medical devices in the
United States who prefer to limit the number of suppliers from whom they purchase medical products,
and these entities may decide to stop purchasing our products or demand discounts on our prices;
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* there isjeconomic pressure to contain healthcare costs in international markets;

* there are proposed and existing laws and regulations in domestic and international markets regulating
pricing/and profitability of companies in the healthcare industry; and

¢ there have been initiatives by third party payers to challenge the prices charged for medical products
which could affect our ability to sell products on a competitive basis.

Both the pressure to reduce prices for our products in response to these trends and the decrease in the size of
the market as a result of these trends could adversely affect our levels of revenues and profitability of sales,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

General Economic Conditions May Cause Our Customers to Delay Buying Our Products Resulting in Lower
Revenues

The national economy of the United States and the global economy are both subject to economic downturns.
An economic downturn in any market in which we sell our products may have a significant impact on the ability
of our customers, in both the hospital and pre-hospital markets, to secure adequate funding to buy our products or
might cause purchasing decisions to be delayed. Any delay in purchasing our products may result in decreased
revenues and also allow our competitors additional time to develop products which may have a competitive edge
over our M Series products, making future sales of our products more difficult.

For example, in the face of a difficult economic climate in the U.S., many states experienced deficits and
shortfalls of revenue to cover expenditures. As a result, states cut their spending and support to local cities and
towns, who then in-turn have reduced their spending for capital equipment purchases for their EMS services. We
believe that this has had a negative impact on our revenues and may continue to do so.

The War on Terrorism and the Impact of a Bio-Terror Threat May Cause Qur Customers to Stop or Delay
Buying Our Products, Resulting in Lower Revenues

The current war on terrorism and a threat of a bio-terror attack may have a significant impact on our
customers’ ability or willingness to buy our products, as well as our ability to timely deliver the product to the
customers. Our customers may have to divert their funding, earmarked for capital equipment purchases to the
purchase of other medical equipment and supplies to fight any potential bio-terror attack. The war on terrorism
may cause thg: diversion of any government funding of hospitals and EMS services for capital equipment
purchases. This could result in decreased revenues.

We Can be Sued for Producing Defective Products and We May be Required to Pay Significant Amounts to
Those Harmet“l If We are Found Liable, and Our Business Could Suffer from Adverse Publicity

The manufacture and sale of medical products such as ours entail significant risk of product liability claims.
Our quality control standards comply with FDA requirements and we believe that the amount of product liability
insurance we maintain is adequate based on past product liability claims in our industry. We cannot be assured
that the amoum of such insurance will be sufficient to satisfy claims made against us in the future or that we will
be able to maintain insurance in the future at satisfactory rates or in adequate amounts. Product liability claims
could resuit m significant costs or litigation. A successful claim brought against us in excess of our available
insurance coverage or any claim that results in significant adverse publicity against us could have a material

adverse effect/ on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Recurring Sales of Electrodes to Our Customers May Decline

We typiéally have recurring sales of electrodes to our customers. Other vendors have developed electrode
adaptors which allow generic electrodes to be compatible with our defibrillators. If we are unable to continue to
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differentiate the superiority of our electrodes over these generic electrodes, our future revenue from the sale of
electrodes could be reduced, or our pricing and profitability could decline.

Failure to Produce New Products or Obtain Market Acceptance for Our New Products in a Timely Manner
Could Harm Our Business

Because substantially all of our revenue comes from the sale of cardiac resuscitation devices and related
products, our financial performance will depend upon market acceptance of, and our ability to deliver and
support, new products. We cannot be assured that we will be able to produce viable products in the time frames
we currently estimate. Factors which could cause delay in these schedules or even cancellation of our projects to
produce and market these new products include: research and development delays, the actions of our competitors
producing competing products and the actions of other parties who may provide alternative therapies or solutions
which could reduce or eliminate the markets for pending products.

The degree of market acceptance of any of our products will depend on a number of factors, including:
* our ability to develop and introduce new products in a timely manner;
* our ability to successfully implement new product technologies;

» the market’s readiness to accept new products such as our data management products and our PAD
product;

+ the standardization of an automated platform for data management systems;
» the clinical efficacy of our products and the outcome of clinical trials;
* the ability to obtain timely regulatory approval for new products; and

+ the prices of our products compared to the prices of our competitors’ products.

If our new products do not achieve market acceptance, our financial performance could be adversely
affected.

Our Dependence on Sole and Single Source Suppliers Exposes Us to Supply Interruptions and Manufacturing
Delays Caused by Faulty Components That Could Result in Product Delivery Delays and Substantial Costs to
Redesign Qur Products

Although we use many standard parts and components for our products, some key components are
purchased from sole or single source vendors for which alternative sources at present are not readily available.
For example, we currently purchase proprietary components, including capacitors, display screens, gate arrays
and integrated circuits, for which there are no direct substitutes. Our inability to obtain sufficient quantities of
these components as well as our limited ability to deal with faulty components may result in future delays or
reductions in product shipments which could cause a fluctuation in our results of operations.

These or any other components could be replaced with alternatives from other suppliers, which could
involve a redesign of our products. Such a redesign could involve considerable time and expense. We could be at
risk that the supplier might experience difficulties meeting our needs.

If our manufacturers are unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing our components in required
volumes, we will have to transfer manufacturing to acceptable alternative manufacturers whom we have
identified, which could result in significant interruptions of supply. The manufacture of these components is
complex, and our reliance on the suppliers of these components exposes us to potential production difficulties
and quality variations, which could negatively impact the cost and timely delivery of our products. Accordingly,
any significant interruption in the supply, or degradation in the quality, of any component would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We May Not be Able to Obtain Appropriate Regulatory Approvals for Our New Products

The manufacture and sale of our products are subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities,
principally the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies. The FDA administers the Federal Food, Drug
and Cosmetic Act, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder. Some of our products have
been classified by the FDA as Class II devices and others, such as our automated external defibrillators, have
been classified as Class IIT devices. All of these devices must secure a 510(k) pre-market notification clearance
before they canibe introduced into the U.S. market. The process of obtaining 510(k) clearance typically takes
several months zjmd may involve the submission of limited clinical data supporting assertions that the product is
substantially equivalent to an already approved device or to a device that was on the market before the Medical
Device Amendments of 1976. Delays in obtaining 510(k) clearance could have an adverse effect on the
introduction of future products. Moreover, approvals, if granted, may limit the uses for which a product may be
marketed, which could reduce or eliminate the commercial benefit of manufacturing any such product.

We are also subject to regulation in each of the foreign countries in which we sell products. Many of the
regulations applicable to our products in such countries are similar to those of the FDA. However, the national
health or social security organizations of certain countries require our products to be qualified before they can be
marketed in those countries. We cannot be assured that such clearances will be obtained.

If We Fail to Cdmply With Applicable Regulatory Laws and Regulations, The FDA and Other U.S. and
Foreign Regulatory Agencies Could Exercise Any of Their Regulatory Powers, which Could Have a Material
Adverse Effect on Our Business

_ Every company that manufactures or assembles medical devices is required to register with the FDA and to

adhere to certain quality systems, which regulate the manufacture of medical devices and prescribe record
keeping procedures and provide for the routine inspection of facilities for compliance with such regulations. The
FDA also has broad regulatory powers in the areas of clinical testing, marketing and advertising of medical
devices. To ensure that manufacturers adhere to good manufacturing practices, medical device manufacturers are
routinely subject to periodic inspections by the FDA. If the FDA believes that a company may not be operating in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, it could take any of the following actions:

e place the company under observation and re-inspect the facilities;

° issuea Maming letter apprising of violating conduct;

» detain or seize products;

* mandate a recall;

* enjoin future violations; and

* . assess éivil and criminal penalties against the company, its officers or its employees.

We, like most of our U.S. competitors, have received warning letters from the FDA in the past, and may
receive warning letters in the future. We have always complied with the warning letters we have received.
However, our failure to comply with FDA regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including

restrictions on the marketing or recall of our products. These sanctions could have a material adverse effect on
our business.

i

If a foreign regulatory agency believes that we are not operating in compliance with their laws and
regulations, they could prevent us from selling our products in their country, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We are Dependent upon Licensed and Purchased Technology for Upgradeable Features in Our Products, and
We May Not Be Able to Renew These Licenses or Purchase Agreements in the Future

We license and purchase technology from third parties for upgradeable features in our products, including
12 lead analysis program, pulse oximetry, EtCO2, and NIBP technologies. We anticipate that we will need to
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license and purchase additional technology to remain competitive. We may not be able to renew our existing
licenses and purchase agreements or to license and purchase other technologies on commercially reasonable
terms or at all. If we are unable to renew our existing licenses and purchase agreements or we are unable to
license or purchase new technologies, we may not be able to offer competitive products.

Fluctuations in Currency Exchange Rates May Adversely Affect Our International Sales

Our revenue from international operations can be denominated in or significantly influenced by the currency
and general economic climate of the country in which we make sales. A decrease in the value of such foreign
currencies relative to the U.S. dollar could result in downward price pressure for our products or losses from
currency exchange rate fluctuations. As we continue to expand our international operations, downward price
pressure and exposure to gains and losses on foreign currency transactions may increase.

We may continue our use of forward contracts and other instruments in the future to reduce our exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations from intercompany accounts receivable and budgeted intercompany sales to our
subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies, and we may not be able to do this successfully. Accordingly, we
may experience economic loss and a negative impact on our results of operations and equity as a result of foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations.

We Have Licensed Our Biphasic Technology to GE Medical Systems Information Technologies and We May
Experience a Competitive Product Utilizing Our own Patented Technology

In 2001, we entered into a five-year license agreement with GE Medical Systems Information Technologies
that permits GE to incorporate our patented biphasic waveform technology into their defibrillator and monitoring
systems. At this time GE has taken only limited action to incorporate our technology into their products.
However, GE has significantly greater resources than we do. If they bring our technology to market, it could
impact our ability to market and sell our products, potentially lowering our revenues.

Our Current and Future Investments May Lose Value in the Future

We hold investments in Advanced Circulatory Systems, Inc. (formerly ResQSystems, Inc.) and
AED@Home and may in the future invest in the securities of other companies and participate in joint venture
agreements. These investments and future investments are subject to the risks that the entities in which we invest
will become bankrupt or lose money. Investing in securities involves risks and no assurance can be made as to
the profitability of any investment. Our inability to identify profitable investments could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Unless we hold a majority position in an investment or joint
venture, we will not be able to control all of the activities of the companies in which we invest or the joint
ventures in which we are participating. Because of this, such entities may take actions against our wishes and not
in furtherance of, and even opposed to, our business plans and objectives. These investments are also subject to
the risk of impasse if no one party exercises ultimate control over the business decisions.

Future Changes in Applicable Laws and Regulations Could Have an Adverse Effect on Our Business

Although we are not aware of any pending changes in applicable laws and regulations governing our
industry, we cannot be assured that federal, state or foreign governments will not change existing laws or
regulations or adopt new laws or regulations that regulate our industry. Changes in or adoption of new laws or
regulations could result in the following consequences that would have an adverse effect on our business:

* regulatory clearance previously received for our products could be revoked;
* costs of compliance could increase; or
* we may be unable to comply with such laws and regulations so that we would be unable to sell our

products.
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Compliance With Changing Regulation of Corporate Governance, Public Disclosure and Accounting Matters
May Result in Additional Expenses

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and new rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock
Market, as well as new accounting pronouncements, are creating uncertainty and additional complexities for
companies. To maintain high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure, we continue to invest
resources to comply with evolving standards. This investment may result in increased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management time anc_i' attention from revenue generating and cost management
activities.

The provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 apply to us for the fiscal year 2005. We
are in the middle of a project to document, review, test, evaluate and conclude on our systems of internal
controls. We expect to complete our testing of our internal control systems by the end of fiscal 2005. There is a
potential for identifying a significant deficiency or material weakness in our system of internal controls.
Disclosure of a material weakness in our system of internal control may cause our stock price to fluctuate
significantly. :

Uncertain Customer Decision Processes May Result in Long Sales Cycles Which Could Result in
Unpredictable Fluctuations in Revenues and Delay the Replacement of Cardiac Resuscitation Devices

Many of tbe customers in the pre-hospital market consist of municipal fire and emergency medical systems
departments. Als a result, there are numerous decision-makers and governmental procedures in the decision-
making process. In addition, decisions at hospitals concerning the purchase of new medical devices are
sometimes made on a department-by-department basis. Accordingly, we believe the purchasing decisions of
many of our customers may be characterized by long decision-making processes, which have resulted in and may
continue to result in long sales.cycles for our products. For example, the sales cycles for cardiac resuscitation
products typically have been between six and nine months, although some sales efforts have taken as long as two
years. ‘

QOur International Sales Expose Our Business to a Variety of Risks That Could Result in Significant
Fluctuations in Our Results of Operations

Approximately 24% of our sales for the year ended October 3, 2004 were made to foreign purchasers and
we plan to increase the sale of our products to foreign purchasers in the future. As a result, a significant portion
of our sales is and will continue to be subject to the risks of international business, including:

e fluctuations in foreign currencies;
¢ trade disputes;
e changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other barriers;

e the possibility of quotas, duties, taxes or other changes or restrictions upon the importation or
- exportation of the products being implemented by the United States or these foreign countries;

o timing and availability of import/export licenses;

o political and economic instability;

higheri credit risk and difficulties in accounts reéeivable collections;

¢ increased tax exposure if our revenues in foreign countries are subject to taxation by more than one
jurisdiction;

e accepting customer purchase orders governed by foreign laws which may differ significantly from U.S.
laws z;’ind limit our ability to enforce our rights under such agreements and to collect damages, if
awarded;
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* war on terrorism,
» disruption in the international transportation industry; and

* use of international distributors.

As. international sales become a larger portion of our total sales, these risks could create significant
fluctuations in our results of operations. These risks could affect our ability to resell trade-in products to domestic
distributors, who in turn often resell the trade-in products in international markets. Our inability to sell trade-in
products might require us to offer lower trade-in values, which might impact our ability to sell new products to
customers desiring to trade in older models and then purchase newer products.

We have recently expanded the size and number of our direct sales forces and our marketing support for
these sales forces. We intend to continue to expand these areas, but if our sales forces are not effective, or if there
is a sudden decrease in the markets where we have direct operations, we could be adversely affected.

We May Fail to Adequately Protect or Enforce Our Intellectual Property Rights or Secure Rights to Third
Party Intellectual Property, and Our Competitors Can Use Some of Our Previously Proprietary Technology

Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our products,
methods, processes and other technologies, to preserve our trade secrets and to operate without infringing the
proprietary rights of third parties. To date, we have been issued 35 U.S. patents for our various inventions and
technologies. Additional patent applications have been filed with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and are
currently pending. The patents that have been granted to us are for a definitive period of time and will expire. We
have filed certain corresponding foreign patent applications and intend to file additional foreign and U.S. patent
applications as appropriate. We cannot be assured as to:

» the degree and range of protection any patents will afford against competitors with similar products;
» if and when patents will be issued,

» whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patent
applications;

»  whether or not competitors will use information contained in our expired patents;

» whether or not others will design around our patents or obtain access to our know-how; or

+ the extent to which we will be successful in avoiding any patents granted to others.

We have, for example, patents and pending patent applications for our proprietary biphasic technology. Our
competitors could develop biphasic technology that has comparable or superior clinical efficacy to our biphasic

technology and if our patents do not adequately protect our technology, our competitors would be able to obtain
patents claiming aspects similar to our biphasic technology or our competitors could design around our patents.

If certain patents issued to others are upheld or if certain patent applications filed by others issue and are
upheld, we may be:

+ required to obtain licenses or redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement;

» prevented from practicing the subject matter claimed in those patents; or

* required to pay damages.

There has been substantial litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights in the medical
device industry. Litigation or administrative proceedings, including interference proceedings before the U.S.

Patent and Trademark Office, related to intellectual property rights could be brought against us or be initiated by
us. Adverse determinations in any patent litigation could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, could
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require us to seek licenses from third parties and could, if licenses are not available, prevent us from
manufacturing,selling or using certain of our products, some of which could have a material adverse effect on
the Company. In addition, the costs of any such proceedings may be substantial whether or not we are successful.

Our success is also dependent upon the skills, knowledge and experience, none of which is patentable, of
our scientific and technical personnel. To help protect our rights, we require all U.S. employees, consultants and
advisors to enter into confidentiality agreements, which prohibit the disclosure of confidential information to
anyone outside of our Company and require disclosure and assignment to us of their ideas, developments,
discoveries and inventions. We cannot be assured that these agreements will provide adequate protection for our
trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure of the
lawful development by others of such information.

Reliance on Overseas Vendors for Some of the Components for Our Products Exposes Us to International
Business Risks. Which Could Have an Adverse Effect on Our Business

Some of the components we use in our products are acquired from foreign manufacturers, particularly
countries locaté,d in Europe and Asia. As a result, a significant portion of our purchases of components is subject
to the risks of international business. The failure to obtain these components as a result of any of these risks can

| . .
result in significant delivery delays of our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business.

We May Acqulre Other Businesses, and We May Have thﬁculty Integrating These Businesses or Generating
an Acceptable Return Jfrom Acquisitions

We recently acquired Revivant Corporation, and we may acquire other companies or make strategic
purchases of interests in other companies related to our business in order to grow, add product lines, acquire
customers or otherwise attempt to gain a competitive advantage in new or existing markets. Such acquisitions
and investments may involve the following risks: '

« our management may be distracted by these acquisitions and may be forced to divert a significant
amount of time and energy into integrating and running the acquired businesses,

* we may face difficulties associated with financing the acquisitions,
* we may face the inability to achieve the desired outcomes jusﬁfying the acquisition, and
+ we may face difficulties integrating the acquired business’ operations and personnel.

» we may face difficulties incorporating the acquired technology into our existing product lines.

Intangibles and Goodwill We Currently Carry on Our Balance Sheet May Become Impaired.

At October 3, 2004, we had approximately $17 million of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance
sheet. Additionally, as a result of our acquisition of Revivant Corporation in October 2004, we expect that our
total goodwill and intangible assets will increase substantially. These assets are subject to impairment if the cash
flow that we génerate from these assets specifically, or our business more broadly, are insufficient to justify the
carrying value of the assets. Factors affecting our ability to generate cash flow from these assets include, but are
not limited to, general market conditions, product acceptance, pricing and competition, distribution, costs of
production and operations.

Provisions in @ur Charter Documents, Qur Shareholder Rights Agreement and State Law May Make It
Harder for Others To Obtain Control of ZOLL Even Though Some Stockholders Might Consider Such a
Development to be Favorable

Our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock and
to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of such shares without further vote or action by
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our stockholders. The rights of the holders of common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by,
the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred stock
could have the effect of making it more difficult for third parties to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting
stock. In addition, our restated articles of organization provide for staggered terms for the members of the board
of directors which could delay or impede the removal of incumbent directors and could make a merger, tender
offer or proxy contest involving the Company more difficult. Our restated articles of organization, restated
by-laws and applicable Massachusetts law also impose various procedural and other requirements that could
delay or make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving us more difficult.

We have also implemented a so-called poison pill by adopting our shareholders rights agreement. This
poison pill significantly increases the costs that would be incurred by an unwanted third party acquirer if such
party owns or announces its intent to commence a tender offer for more than 15% of our outstanding common
stock. The existence of this poison pill could delay, deter or prevent a takeover of the Company.

All of these provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of
our common stock which could preclude our shareholders from recognizing a premium over the prevailing
market price of our stock.

We Have Only One Manufacturing Facility for Each of Our Major Products and Any Damage or
Incapacitation of Any of the Facilities Could Impede Our Ability to Produce These Products

We have only one manufacturing facility for each of our major products. Damage to any such facility could
render us unable to manufacture the relevant product or require us to reduce the output of products at the
damaged facility. In addition, a severe weather event or other natural disaster affecting a facility occurring late in
a quarter could make it difficult to meet product shipping targets. Any of these events could materially and
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 2. Properties.

Our executive headquarters are located in Chelmsford, Massachusetts, along with our research and
development and our defibrillator manufacturing operations. The Chelmsford facility offers approxirmately
155,000 square feet of leased office, warehouse and assembly space. We own a 33,000 square foot building in
Pawtucket, Rhode Island, where we manufacture our electrode products and conduct related research and
development. We lease 40,000 square feet in Bloomfield, Colorado where our data management software
business offices are located. We lease an approximate 1,500 square foot manufacturing facility located in
Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania, where the Power Infuser is manufactured. As of October 2004, as a result of
our acquisition of Revivant Corporation, we also lease an approximate 16,000 square foot manufacturing facility
located in Sunnyvale, California, where the AutoPulse is manufactured. We also lease administrative offices in
Manchester, England; Dodewaard, the Netherlands; Cologne, Germany; Sydney, Australia; and Mississauga,
Ontario, Canada.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

On December 10, 2004, a complaint was filed against Revivant Corporation by Dr. Thomas Fogarty and his
affiliate, alleging that Revivant owes a 4% royalty on all of its sales. We believe the suit is without merit.
Moreover, in connection with our acquisition of Revivant, the former stockholders of Revivant specifically
agreed to indemnify us against Dr. Fogarty’s claim for all amounts up to $15 million. We have the right to set-off
these indemnity claims against future contingent amounts payable by us as part of the purchase price for
Revivant.

We have been informed by the federal government is conducting an investigation regarding two sales of
defibrillators by us in fiscal 2000 to a distributor, which were then allegedly transshipped to Iran without the
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required export licenses. We are cooperating with the Department of Justice in connection with its ongoing
investigation and have provided requested information. The two sales in question represented approximately
$150,000 of net income in fiscal 2000. Although it is premature to determine the likely outcome of the
investigation, it is possible that we may be subject to civil or criminal sanctions and fines as a result of this

matter. ‘

In addition to these matters we are, from time to time, involved. in the normal course of our business in
various other litigation matters and regulatory issues, including product recalls. Although we are unable to
quantify at the present time the exact financial impact in any of these matters, we believe that none of these other
matters currently pending will have an outcome material to our financial condition or business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities.

Our Common Stock is traded on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation
(NASDAQ) National Market System under the symbol “ZOLL..” The following table sets forth the high and low
sales prices during the fiscal quarters specified:

Sales Prices

2004 2003
High Low High Low
FirstQuarter ........ ... ....coiiuvuninn... $36.08 $30.66 $40.00 $29.76
Second Quarter .......... ... ..., 41.93 35.34 42.29 34.11
ThirdQuarter .. ......... ... v, 42.73 30.06 41.83 29.26
Fourth Quarter ........... ... .. ... ... ..... 34.92 30.63 36.18 29.74

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any current and
future earnings to finance the growth and development of our business, and therefore do not anticipate paying
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

As of December 13, 2004, there were 101 stockholders of record of our Common Stock. We believe there
are substantially in excess of 5,000 beneficial holders of our Common Stock.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities to be available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of ‘Weighted-average exercise under equity compensation
outstanding options, warrants price of outstanding options, plans (excluding securities
Plan Category and rights warrants and rights reflected in column a)

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holders ................. 1,224,520 $33.94 385,803
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security

holders ................. — — —
Total .................... 1,224,520 $33.94 385,803
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

"ZOLL Medical Corporation

Consolidated Five Year Financial Summary

FISCAL YEAR
(000’s omitted, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Income Statemfent Data: ‘
Net sales . .. ................................ $211,785 $184,603 $150,227 $119202 $106,336
Costofgoodssold ..............coiviiinnnn. 92,545 81,477 65,274 52,684 46,351
Gross Profit . vl v vve et e 119,240 103,126 84,953 66,518 59,985
Expenses: :
Selling and marketing . ..................... 74,946 59,461 48,645 38,208 31,238
General and administrative .. ............... 14,504 12,404 11,193 9,605 8,606
Research and development ... ............... 18,376 14,115 11,536 10,231 7,973
Total eXpenses ..........vvevneeennn. 107,826 85,980 71,374 58,044 47,817
Income from operations ........... ... .o 11,414 17,146 13,579 8,474 12,168
Investment and otherincome .................... 1,323 2,033 1,595 3,139 1,803
Income beforejincometaxes . ...........covvnenn. 12,737 19,179 15,174 11,613 13,971
Provision for incometaxes . ...............co.v... 3,781 6,329 4,944 4,051 5,169
Netinoome . ..ot it '$ 8956 $ 12,850 $ 10,230 $ 7,562 $ 8,802
Basic earnings|per common share . ............... $§ 097 $ 142 % 115 $ 08 $ 111
Weighted average common shares outstanding . ... .. 9,191 9,030 8,919 8,847 7,930
Diluted eamings per common and common equivalent
Share . ... . e $ 09 $ 140 $ 112 $ 083 $ 1.07
Weighted average common and common equivalent .
shares outstanding ... 9,304 9,204 9,158 9,097 8,231
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital ............. ... $114,785 $113,505 $119,110 $109,660 $101,991
Total @SSets . .o v e $207,192 $192,096 $165,854 $144,388 $137,808
Stockholders’ equity . . ...... ... i e . $170,946 $155,991 $141,912 $131,437 $122,416

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We intend for this discussion and analysis to provide you with information that will assist you in
understanding .our consolidated financial statements, the changes in certain key items in those consolidated
financial statements from year to year and the primary factors that accounted for those changes. Our consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements as of October 3, 2004 and for the year then ended and the notes accompanying those consolidated
financial statements.

Executive Overview

We design, manufacture, market, and sell non-invasive resuscitation devices and software solutions. Our
products include pacing and defibrillation devices (ZOLL’s M Series™ and AED Plus™, and LifeCOR, Inc.’s
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LifeVest™ Wearable Defibrillator); a circulatory assist device (Advanced Circulatory Systems, Inc.’s
ResQPOD™ Circulatory Enhancer); and a unique fluid resuscitation product called the Power Infuser®,
manufactured by Infusion Dynamics, a division of ZOLL. These devices help healthcare professionals,
emergency medical service providers, and first responders diagnose and treat victims of trauma, as well as
sudden cardiac arrest. Through our subsidiary ZOLL Data Systems (formerly Pinpoint Technologies), we also
design and market software that automates the collection and management of both clinical and non-clinical data.

We ended fiscal 2004 in a strong financial position, despite mixed sales performance during the year. We
have a healthy balance sheet with $59.0 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, and no
long-term debt. Net income in fiscal 2004 was lower than expected due to sales growth that did not keep pace
with our significant investments in sales, marketing and R&D resources. We expect to see good revenue growth
in fiscal 2005 along with increased earnings as we leverage the operational investments we have made the past
few years.

2004 Compared to 2003
Sales

Our net sales increased 15% in fiscal 2004 to a record $211.8 million, up from $184.6 million in the prior
year, reflecting continued growth in sales volume of our core M Series product and our AED Plus product.

Net sales by customer/product categories were as follows:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 % Change
Devices and Accessories to the Hospital Market-North

AMETICA . . . oot $ 88,110 $ 63,558 39%
Devices, Accessories, and Data Management Software to the

Pre-hospital Market-North America ..................... 62,435 55,357 13%
Other Products to North America .. .........ccovviinvinn... 19,982 19,602 _Z%

Subtotal North America ............ ..o, 170,527 138,517 23%

All Products to the International Market ................... 41,258 46,086 (_I_Q)%
Total Sales ........... S $211,785  $184,603 _lé%

The increase of sales to the North American Hospital market was primarily due to $15.6 million of
additional volume to the U.S. military which included $3.4 million of product shipped from Infusion Dynamics,
the company we acquired in March 2004, Excluding the U.S. military sales of approximately $30 million in
2004, North American hospital revenues increased 18% over the prior year. Of this increase, $2.4 million was
due to increased sales of our AED Plus in the hospital market and approximately $5 million was due to increased
sales of the M Series. The increase of M Series sales includes the impact of some customers accelerating their
replacement of monophasic devices. For U.S.military sales, we do not anticipate a repeat of the 2004 volumes.
We are estimating that sales to various branches of the U.S. military will approximate $10 million in fiscal 2005.

Our sales to the North American pre-hospital market increased 13% due to approximately $7 million of
growth in the sales of our AED Plus product driven by volume and market share gains and approximately $1.7
million was due to growth in volume of our data management software revenues.

The $4.8 million decrease of International sales was caused primarily by a $3.3 million decrease due to
German Army purchases which occurred in 2003 but did not recur in 2004. Further, our United Kingdom sales
decreased approximately $4.6 million. These decreases were partially offset by approximately $2.8 million or 6%
due to favorable foreign exchange rates and approximately $1.2 million or 3% of additional sales volume in our
Australian operations as we continue to gain market share there.
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Worldwide AED Plus product sales reached $30.4 million, an increase of 61% over the prior year. This
increase results [from increased volume of shipments and additional market share since we believe this market is
growing at approximately 20% per year.

Gross Margins

Gross margins for fiscal 2004 increased slightly to 56.3%, from 55.9% in fiscal 2003. The increase in gross
margins was mainly due to a lower proportion of International sales in 2004 as compared to total sales. Many
international saﬂes, including those to the German Army in 2003, included volume discounts, and sales to
international distributors which typically carry lower than average gross margins drove margins lower in 2003.

Backlog

We do not typically maintain a significant backlog. Typically our sales force has to sell most of each
quarter’s revenue in that quarter. Orders are subject to cancellation or rescheduling by customers. Due to possible
changes in delivery schedules, cancellation of orders and delays in shipments, our backlog at any particular date
is not necessarily an accurate predictor of revenue for any succeeding period. We ended the year with a capital
equipment backlog of approximately $4 million, which we expect to ship during the first quarter of fiscal 2005.
As we continue|to grow, in order to facilitate shipments given heavy end of quarter orders, we believe we need to
establish a permanent backlog of orders that will not be shipped at the end of each quarter. Over the course of
2005, we hope to establish such a backlog of approximately $2 to 3 million.

Costs and Expenses

Operating éxpenses were as follows:

‘ % of % of Change
(000’s omitted) 2004 Sales 2003 Sales %
Selling and marketing ................ ... .... $ 74,946 35% $59.461 32% 26%
General anﬂ administrative . ................... 14,504 7% 12,404 7% 17%
Research and development .................... 18,376 _9% 14,115 _8% i(_)%
Total EXPENSES v oo v oo e oo e $107,826 51% $85,980 ﬂ % 2_5%

Selling and marketing expenses increased $15.5 million for the year ended October 3, 2004. The increase in
selling and marketing expense was primarily due to $13 million for the expansion of our North American and
International sadles forces and the associated personnel and travel costs. Qutside professional services of
approximately $1.1 million including public relations and other marketing consulting, and approximately $1
million for direct mailing, advertising, and other promotional items also contributed to the overall increase.

General and administrative expenses increased $2.1 million for the year ended October 3, 2004. The
increase over the prior year was primarily due to an increase in professional services including Information
Technology consulting of approximately $500,000 and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance consulting of approximately
$300,000. Recruiting costs increased by approximately $300,000, to support the growth of our business and its
infrastructure. Additionally, we experienced increases to our product liability insurance premiums of
approximately $300,000 due to the increased volume of products sold.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses increased $4.3 million for the year ended October 3, 2004.

Approximately 1$2.3 million of this increase was due to the hiring of -additional personnel and approximately
$800,000 was due to the increased use of outside professional design services.
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Investment and Other Income

Investment and other income decreased to $1.3 million in fiscal 2004, as compared to $2.0 million in the
previous year. This decrease was primarily due to lower foreign exchange gains due to slightly more stable
exchange rates in fiscal 2004 when compared to fiscal 2003.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased to 30% in fiscal 2004 as compared to 33% in fiscal 2003. This reduction in
the effective tax rate is mainly due to increased export trade incentives utilized in 2004. These incentives are
being phased out beginning in 2005; however, the American Jobs Creation Act, passed into law in October 2004,
will likely give us similar incentives and results.

2003 Compared to 2002
Sales

Our net sales increased 23% in fiscal 2003 to a record $184.6 million, up from $150.2 million in the prior
year, reflecting continued growth of our core M Series product as we continue to capture market share and the
growing demand for our AED Plus product.

Net sales by customer/product categories were as follows:

(000’s omitted) 2003 2002 % Change
Devices and Accessories to the Hospital Market-North

AMETICA . . oo $ 63,558 $ 50,686 25%
Devices, Accessories, and Data Management Software to the

Pre-hospital Market-North America .. ................... 55,357 46,958 18%
Other Products to North America .. ....................... 19,602 19,372 _l%

Subtotal North America ............................ 138,517 117,016 18%

All Products to the International Market ................... 46,086 33,211 §2%
Total Sales ... ... $184,603  $150,227 23%

The increase in the North American hospital market was mainly due to $12.5 million of M Series CCT
shipments to the U.S. military for their PMI (Patient Movement Item) program. Without the U.S. military, our
sales in the North American hospital market remained relatively flat year to year. We believe this was due to the
slowdown in the North American economy.

Our sales to the North American pre-hospital market increased 18% primarily due to $3.2 million growth in
our data management software revenues and $9.4 million growth in sales of our new AED Plus product, partially
offset by a $5.1 million decrease in capital equipment sale volume as budget constraints continued to affect state
and municipal spending on EMS services.

QOur AED Plus product has generated approximately $18.8 million in total sales in its first full year, of which
approximately 81% were sold in North America. This is compared to AED Plus sales of $6.6 million last year,
with approximately 79% sold in North America. This increase reflects the results of the addition of
approximately 75 AED Plus distributors and manufacturer’s representatives in the North American market along
with the addition of in-house distributor managers and regional managers for this market and the addition to our
direct sales force compared to the prior year.

The 39% increase in international sales reflects continued volume growth in all of our direct sales
organizations and in our International distributor sales, particularly in Europe, the Middle East and China. An
increase in foreign currency exchange rates contributed approximately $1.9 million or 6% to this increase.
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Gross Margins

Gross margins for fiscal 2003 decreased to 55.9%, from 56.5% in fiscal 2002. The decreased margins are
due to sales to the U.S. military and increased sales to the German Army, which included volume discounts.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses were as follows:

. %0 of % of  Change
(000°s omitteﬂ) 2003 _ % 2002 Sales %
Selling and marketing ........... i, $59,461 32% $48,645 32% 22%
General and administrative .. ................... 12,404 7% 11,193 7% 11%
Research and development .................. ... 14,115 _8% 11,536 _8_% 2%
Total EXPERNSES . . v vvee e e oo $85980  47% $71,374  48%  20%

Selling and marketing expenses increased $10.8 million for the year ended September 28, 2003. The
increase in selling and marketing expense was primarily due to increases in personnel and travel costs of
approximately $6.8 million, reflecting additional headcount to our North American sales force and the expansion
of our international operations. We also spent approximately $2.9 million on additional tradeshow participation,
advertising and other promotional items, and provided additional training and equipment to our worldwide sales
force.

General and administrative expenses increased $1.2 million primarily due to approximately $1 million for
an increase in v\;‘iages and related benefits for an expanded headcount to support the larger organization, with the
remainder driven primarily by an increase in general liability insurance premiums.

Research and development expenses increased $2.6 million. Our continued investment in research and
development reflects significant resources devoted to data management, product variants of the M Series and
AED Plus product lines, continued clinical trials, expansion of our long-term technical research efforts, and

expansion of other R&D initiatives.

Investment ami Other Income

Investment and other income increased to $2.0 million in fiscal 2003, as compared to $1.6 million in the
previous year. i‘his increase was primarily due to approximately $1 million of foreign exchange gains offset by
approximately $500,000 of lower investment earnings due to lower cash balances invested at lower interest rates
over the prior year.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate remained consistent at 33% in fiscal 2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, reflecting
continued research and development credits for our R&D activity, along with foreign earnings taxed at differing
rates, and the utilization of foreign loss carry forwards.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our overaljl financial condition remains strong. Our cash and cash equivalents at October 3, 2004 totaled
$40.7 million compared with $40.8 million at September 28, 2003. In addition, we had marketable securities
amounting to $18.3 million at October 3, 2004 in comparison to $20.0 million at September 28, 2003. We
continue to have no long-term debt.
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Cash Requirements:

We believe that the combination of existing cash, cash equivalents, and highly liquid short-term investments
on hand, along with future cash to be generated by operations and amounts available under our line of credit will
be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating and capital expenditure requirements for the foreseeable future.

Sources and Uses of Cash:

To assist with the discussion, the following table presents the abbreviated cash flows for the years ended
October 3, 2004, September 28, 2003, and September 29, 2002:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002
Netineome .. ..ottt e e e $ 8956 $12,850 $10,230
Changes not affectingcash ............ ... ... ... ... ...... 13,492 10,723 8,837
Changes in current assets and liabilities ..................... (7,528) (3,598) (7,198)
Cash provided by operating activities ....................... 14,920 19,975 11,869
Cash used in investing activities ..................ccvven... (20,431) (36,610) (2,205)
Cash provided by financing activities ....................... 5,114 1,157 609
Effect of foreign exchangeratesoncash ..................... 302 600 82
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . . ................... $ (95 $(14,878) $10,355
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of year . ............... $ 40,780  $ 55,658  $45,303
Cash and cash equivalents—end of year ..................... $ 40,685 $40,780 $55,658
Operating Activities

The net decrease in cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to a 30% decrease in our
net income year to year which was responsible for $3.9 million of the decrease. Net income was lower than
expected due to sales growth that did not keep pace with our significant investments in sales, marketing and
R&D resources. Offsetting the decrease in net income, was a net increase in other changes which affected net
income but did not affect cash, such as $1.4 million increase in depreciation, and, $600,000 for inventory
reserves. Depreciation expense was higher in 2004 because of an increased investment in computer equipment
and demo equipment deployed to our growing sales force. Changes in current assets and liabilities caused a
decrease in cash of approximately $4 million for 2004 compared to 2003 because of the timing of payments for
the year-end 2004.

Investing Activities

The $16.9 million decrease in cash used in investing activities primarily reflects the fact that we received
approximately $1.8 million of cash in 2004 from the net sales of marketable securities compared to 2003 when
we used approximately $10 million of cash for the net purchases of marketable securities. In 2003, we made a $5
million advance to Revivant Corporation in the form of a note receivable. In 2004, we also generated
approximately $2.0 million in cash from the sale of our building in Boulder Colorado where our data
management software business offices were located. We subsequently leased more office space in Broomfield,
Colorado for this growing business.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $5.1 million for fiscal 2004 in comparison to $1.2 million in the
previous year. The change reflects a higher number of stock options exercised during 2004 (approximately
245,000 shares in 2004 versus 121,000 in 2003) at a higher average exercise price per share ($20.87 in 2004
verses $12.17 in 2003).
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Investments .

As of October 3, 2004, we had investments in privately held technology companies with a carrying value of
$9.9 million. We have performed a review of these investments and determined the carrying value of these
investments approximates their fair value.

|

In March 2004, we acquired substantially all the assets of Infusion Dynamics, Inc. (“Infusion”). Under the
terms of the acquisition, we are obligated to make additional earn out payments through 2006 and royalty
payments through 2011 (“contingencies”) based on performance of the acquired business. Because additional
consideration is based on the growth of sales, a reasonable estimate of the future payments to be made cannot be
determined. When these contingencies are resolved and the consideration is distributable, we will record the fair

value of the additional consideration as additional cost of the acquired assets.

We exercised our option to acquire Revivant Corporation (“Revivant”) on October 12, 2004. We paid $15
million in the form of cash and shares of our Common Stock as the initial merger consideration. We may also be
required to make future milestone payments, estimated to be approximately $15 million, tied to the completion of
certain clinical trials of the AutoPulse™ Resuscitation System through 2006. We may also make additional
payments for the years 2005 through 2007 based on the growth of the AutoPulse sales. Because additional
consideration is based on the growth of the AutoPulse sales, a reasonable estimate of the potential total purchase
price cannot be determined. All payments will generally be a combination of cash and shares of our Common
Stock. ‘ '

We also have an option exercisable through October 2005 to acquire the remainder of LifeCOR’s assets. If
the option is exercised, we will make earn out payments to LifeCOR’s shareholders based upon future revenue
growth of the acquired business over a five-year period. Because additional consideration is based on the growth
of sales over a five-year period, a reasonable estimate of the total acquisition cost cannot be determined. We are
also providing a working capital line of credit to LifeCOR secured by LifeCOR’s accounts receivable and other
assets, which had a principal balance as of October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003 of $721,000 and $0,
respectively.

Debt Instruments and Related Covenants

We maintain a working capital line of credit with our bank. Under this working capital line, we may borrow
on a demand basis. Currently, we may borrow up to $12.0 million at an interest rate equal to the bank’s base rate.
No borrowings were outstanding on this line during fiscal 2004. There are no covenants related to this line of
credit.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Qur only off-balance sheet arrangements consist of non-cancelable operating leases entered into in the
ordinary course! of business and one minimum purchase commitment contract for a critical raw material
component. Thel table shown below in the next section titled “Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial
Commitments” shows the amounts of our operating lease commitments and purchase commitments payable by
year. For liquiditiy purposes, we choose to lease our facilities and automobiles instead of purchasing them.

|

34




Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following tables set forth certain information concerning our obligations and commitments to make
future payments under contracts, such as debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments.

Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Less than 1-3 4-5 After
(in $000s) Total 1 year years | years 5 years
Non-Cancelable Operating Lease
Obligations ............cviiiinin .. $10,468 $2,120  $3,455 $2,989  $1,904
Purchase Obligations ..................... 419 419 — — —
Total Contractual Obligations .............. $10,887 $2,539 $3,455 $2989  $1,904

Purchase obligations include all legally binding contracts which are non-cancelable. Purchase orders or
contracts for the purchase of raw materials and other goods and services are not included in the table above.
Purchase orders represent authorizations to purchase rather than binding agreements. For the purposes of this
table, contractual obligations for purchase of goods and services are defined as agreements that are enforceable
and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be
purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Our
purchase orders are based upon our current inventory needs and are fulfilled by our suppliers within short time
periods. We also enter into contracts for outsourced services; however, the obligations under these contracts are
not significant and the contracts generally contain clauses allowing for cancellation without significant penalty.

Contractual obligations that are contingent upon the achievement of certain milestones are not included in
the table above. These include the milestone payments, tied to the completion of certain clinical trials of the
AutoPulse™ Resuscitation System through 2006. These arrangements are not considered contractual obligations
until the milestone is met. As of October 3, 2004, assuming all future milestones were met, additional required
payments would be approximately $15 million in cash and ZOLL stock.

Contractual obligations that are contingent upon future performance and growth of sales are not included in
the table above. These include the additional earn out payments and royalty payments for Infusion Dynamics
through fiscal 2006; additional earn out payments for Revivant Corporation through fiscal 2007; and if we
exercise our option, the additional earn out payments for LifeCOR through fiscal 2009. Because all of these earn
out and royalty payments are based upon the growth of sales over several years, a reasonable estimate of the
future payment obligations cannot be determined. '

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our management strives to report our financial results in a clear and understandable manner, even though in
some cases accounting and disclosure rules are complex and require us to use technical terminology. We follow
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States in preparing our consolidated financial statements.
Theése principles require us to make certain estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain and to make
difficult and subjective judgments that affect our financial position and results of operations. Our most critical
accounting policies include revenue recognition, and our most critical accounting estimates include accounts
receivable reserves, warranty reserves, inventory reserves, and the valuation of long lived assets. Management
continually reviews its accounting policies, how they are applied and how they are reported and disclosed in our
financial statements. Following is a summary of our more significant accounting policies, which include revenue
recognition and those that require significant estimates and judgments and uncertainties, and potentially could
result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions, and how they are applied in
preparation of the financial statements.
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Revenue Recognition
I

Revenues from sales of cardiac resuscitation devices, disposable electrodes and accessories are recognized
when a signed non-cancelable purchase order exists, the product is shipped, title and risk have passed to the
customer, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection is considered probable. Circumstances which
generally preclude the immediate recognition of revenue include shipping terms of FOB destination or the
existence of a customer acceptance clause in a contract based upon customer inspection of the product. In these
instances, revenue is deferred until adequate documentation is obtained to ensure that these criteria have been
fulfilled. Similariy, revenues from the sales of our products to distributors fall under the same guidelines. For all
significant orders placed by our distributors, we require an approved purchase order, we perform a credit review,
and we ensure that the terms on the purchase order or contract are proper and do not include any contingencies
which preclude revenue recognition. We do not offer any special right of return, stock rotation or price protection
to our distributors or the end customers.

Our sales to customers often include a cardiac resuscitation device, disposable electrodes and other
accessories. For the vast majority of our shipments, all deliverables are shipped together. In cases where some
elements of a multiple element arrangement are not delivered as of a reporting date, we defer the fair value of the
undelivered elements and only recognize the revenue related to the delivered elements in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. Revenues are
recorded net of estimated returns. Some sales to customers of our cardiac resuscitation devices may include some
data collection software. The cardiac resuscitation device and software product can operate independently of each
other and one does not impede the functionality of the other. In cases where both elements are included in a
customer’s order but only one has been delivered by the reporting date, we defer the fair value of the undelivered
element and recognize the revenue related to the delivered item.

We also license software under non-cancelable license agreements and provide services including training,
installation, consulting and maintenance, which consist of product support services, periodic updates and
unspecified upgrade rights (collectively, post-contract customer support (“PCS”)). Revenue from the sale of
software is recognized in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™)
Statement of Pofsition (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended. License fee revenues are
recognized when a non-cancelable license agreement has been signed, the software product has been delivered,
there are no uncertainties surrounding product acceptance, the fees are fixed and determinable, and collection is
considered probable. Revenues from maintenance agreements and upgrade rights are recognized ratably over the
period of service. Revenue for services, such as software deployment, is recognized when the deployment is
completed.

Our software arrangements contain multiple elements, which include software products, services and PCS.
Generally, we do not sell computer hardware products with our software products. We will occasionally facilitate
the hardware purchase by providing information to the customer such as where to purchase the equipment. We
do not have vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for our software products. We do, however, have
vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for items such as technical services, maintenance, upgrades and
support for the software products based upon the price charged when such items are sold separately.
Accordingly, for transactions where vendor specific objective evidence exists for undelivered elements but not
for delivered elements, we use the residual method as discussed in SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, With
Respect to Certain Transactions.” Under the residual method, the total fair value of the undelivered elements, as
indicated by vendor specific objective evidence, is deferred and the difference between the total arrangement fee
and the amount deferred for the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to the delivered elements.

We do not ship any of our software products to distributors or resellers. Our software products are sold only
by our sales force directly to the end user. We may sell software to system integrators who provide complete
solutions to end users on a contract basis.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts / Sales Returns and Allowances

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses, which are included in bad debt
expense, resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We determine the adequacy of
this allowance by regularly reviewing the aging of our accounts receivable and evaluating individual customer
receivables, considering customers’ financial condition, historical experience, credit history and current
economic condition. We also maintain an estimate of potential future product returns and discounts given related
to trade-ins and to current period product sales. We analyze the rate of historical returns when evaluating the
adequacy of the allowance for sales returns, which are included with the allowance for doubtful accounts on our
balance sheet.

As of October 3, 2004 our accounts receivable balance of $51 million is reported net of allowances of $4.9
million. We believe our reported allowances at October 3, 2004 are adequate. If the financial conditions of our
customers were to deteriorate, however, resulting in their inability to make payments, we may need to record
additional allowances, resulting in additional expenses being recorded for the period in which such determination
was made.

Warranty Reserves

Our products are sold with warranty provisions that require us to remedy deficiencies in quality or
performance over a specified period of time, usually one to five years. We provide for the estimated cost of
product warranties at the time product is shipped and revenue is recognized. The costs which we estimate include
material, labor, and shipping. While we engage in product quality programs and processes, our warranty
obligation is affected by product failure rates, material usage and service delivery costs incurred in correcting a
product failure. We believe that our recorded liability of $2.7 million at October 3, 2004 is adequate to cover
future costs for the servicing of our products sold through that date and under warranty. If actual product failure
rates, material usage or service delivery costs differ from our estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty
liability would be required.

Inventory Reserves

Significant management judgment is required to determine the reserve for obsolete or excess inventory.
Inventory on hand may exceed future demand either because the product is outdated, obsolete, or because the
amount on hand is in excess of future needs. We provide for the total value of inventories that we determine to be
obsolete based on criteria such as customer demand and changing technologies. We estimate excess inventory
amounts by reviewing quantities on hand and comparing those quantities to sales forecasts for the next 12
months; identifying historical service usage trends and matching that usage with the installed base quantities to
estimate future needs. At October 3, 2004, our inventory reserves were $3.4 million, or 9.8% of our $35.1 million
gross inventories.

We value our inventories at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”)
method, including material, labor and factory overhead.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

At October 3, 2004, we had approximately $3.3 million in goodwill primarily resulting from our acquisition
of Infusion Dynamics. In accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assers, we test our
goodwill for impairment at least annually by comparing the fair value of our reporting units to the carrying value
of those reporting units. Fair value is determined based on an estimate of the discounted future cash flows
expected from the reporting units. The determination of fair value requires significant judgment on the part of
management about future revenues, expenses and other assumptions that contribute to the net cash flows of the
reporting units. Additionally, we periodically review our goodwill for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an impairment indicator has occurred.
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Investments

At October 3, 2004, we had $9.9 million in investments in privately held companies focused.in the medical
devices industry. These investments are carried at cost. We periodically review the fair value of our investments
to determine if impairment has occurred. We estimate the fair value of these investments based on an analysis of
discounted cash flows. If we determine that the carrving value of an investment exceeds its fair value, we record
an impairment charge to adjust the carrying value to estimated fair value, if the impairment is deemed other-than-
temporary. The estimate of fair value of these investments, and the determination of whether impairment is
temporary, requires that management make significant judgments that could affect the timing and amount of any
impairment charge recorded.

Long Lived Afsets

We periodically review the carrying amount of our long lived assets, including property and equipment, and
intangible assets, to assess potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The determination includes evaluation of factors such as current market
value, business ¢limate and future cash flows expected to result from the use of the related assets. Our policy is to
use discounted cash flows in assessing potential impairment and to record an impairment loss in the period when
it is determined ithat the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. This process requires( judgment on
the part of management.

Safe Harbor Statements

Certain statements contained herein constitute “forward-looking statements” as that term is defined under
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”) and releases issued by the Securities and
Exchange Cominission and within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of
the Exchange Act of 1934. The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate” and other
expressions which are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and which do not relate to historical
matters identify forward-looking statements. Particularly, the Company’s expectations regarding future
operational liquidity, contractual obligations and other commercial commitments, and capital requirements are
forward-looking statements. Reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements because they involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of the Company to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. Factors that could cause actual results fo differ materially from those expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the length and severity of the current economic
slowdown and iits impact on capital spending budgets, the potential disvuption in the transportation industry on
the Company’s supply chain and product distribution channels and those other risks and uncertainties contained
under the heading “Risk Factors”.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We have cash equivalents and marketable securities that primarily consist of money market accounts and
fixed rate asset-backed corporate securities. The majority of these investments have maturities within one to five
years. We believe that our exposure to interest rate risk is minimal due to the term and type of our investments
and those fluctuations in interest rates would not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We have.international offices in Canada, United Kingdom, Netherlands, France, Germany, Austria, and
Australia. These subsidiaries transact business in their functional or local currency. Therefore, we are exposed to
foreign currency exchange risks and fluctuations in foreign currencies, along with economic and political
instability in the foreign countries in which we operate, all of which could adversely impact our results of
operations and financial condition.
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We use forward contracts to reduce our exposure to foreign currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange
rates underlying the value of intercompany accounts receivable denominated in foreign currencies as well as
forecasted sales to subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies. A forward contract obligates us to exchange
predetermined amounts of specified foreign currencies at specified exchange rates on specified dates. These
forward contracts are denominated in the same currency in which the underlying foreign currency receivables
and forecasted sales are denominated and bear a contract value and maturity date that approximate the value and
expected settlement date, respectively, of the underlying transactions. Unrealized gains and losses on open
contracts at the end of each accounting period, resulting from changes in the fair value of these contracts, are
recognized in earnings generally in the same period as exchange gains and losses on the underlying foreign
denominated receivables and forecasted sales are recognized.

We had one forward exchange contract outstanding serving as a hedge of our Euro denominated
intercompany receivables in the notional amount of approximately 4.5 million Euros at October 3, 2004. The
contract serves as a hedge of a substantial portion of our Euro-denominated intercompany balances and settles on
January 4, 2005. The fair value of the foreign currency derivative contract outstanding at October 3, 2004 was
approximately $5.6 million resulting in an unrealized loss of $51,000. A sensitivity analysis of a change in the
fair value of the Euro derivative foreign exchange contract outstanding at October 3, 2004 indicates that, if the
U.S. dollar weakened by 10% against the Euro, the fair value of this contract would decrease by $558,000
resulting in a total loss on the contract of $609,000. Conversely, if the U.S. dollar strengthened by 10% against
the Euro, the fair value of this contract would increase by $507,000 resulting in a total gain on the contract of
$456,000. Any gains and losses on the fair value of the derivative contract would be largely offset by losses and
gains on the underlying transaction. These offsetting gains and losses are not reflected in the analysis above.

Intercompany Receivable Hedge
Exchange Rate Sensitivity: October 3, 2004
(Amounts in $)

Expected Maturity Dates Unéz?:liz/ed
2005 i@g w 3@ @2 Thereafter Total (Loss)
Forward Exchange Agreements
(Receive $/Pay Euro) Contract
Amount .................... $5,529,000 $5,529,000 $(51,000)
Average Contract Exchange
Rate ....................... 12287 — — - — — 1.2287 —

We had four forward exchange contracts outstanding serving as a hedge of a portion our forecasted sales to
our subsidiaries in the notional amount of approximately $1.7 million at October 3, 2004. These contracts mature
on January 4, 2005. The fair value of the foreign currency derivative contracts outstanding at October 3, 2004
was approximately $1.7 million. A sensitivity analysis of a change in the fair value of the derivative foreign
exchange contracts outstanding at October 3, 2004 indicates that, if the U.S. dollar weakened by 10%, the fair
value of these contracts would decrease by $168,000 resulting in a total loss on the contracts of $186,000.
Conversely, if the U.S. dollar strengthened by 10%, the fair value of these contracts would increase by $153,000
resulting in a total gain on the contracts of $135,000. Any gains and losses on the fair value of the derivative
contract would be largely offset by losses and gains on the underlying transaction. These offsetting gains and
losses are not reflected in the analysis above. '

39




Cash Flow Hedges
Exchange Rate Sensitivity: October 3, 2004
(Amounts in §)

Expected Maturity Dates Unég?llged
__2_(_]05__ ﬂq_t_i i(m _2% 399 Thereafter Total (Loss)
Forward Exchange Agreements

(Receive $/Pay Euro) Contract

Amount ......................... $620,000 — — — — — $620,000  $(1,000)
Average Contract Exchange Rate . . ... 12398 — — — — — 1.2398 —
Forward Exchange Agreements

(Receive $/Pay GBP) Contract

Amount . .................. . $713000 — — — — — $713,000 $(6,000)
Average Contra:ct Exchange Rate . . ... 17831 — @ — — - — 1.7831 —
Forward Exchaﬁge Agreements

(Receive $/Pay AUD) Contract :

Amount ....;.................... $142,000 — — — — — $142,000  $(3,000)
Average Contract Exchange Rate . . . .. 07118 — — — — — 0.7118 —
Forward Exchange Agreements

(Receive $/Pay CAD) Contract

Amount ... $190,000 — — — — — $190,000  $(8,000)

Average Contract Exchange Rate . .. .. 07593 — — — — — 0.7593 —
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders of ZOLL Medical Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ZOLL Medical Corporation as of October 3,
2004 and September 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 3, 2004. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of ZOLL Medical Corporation at October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003, and the
consolidated resuits of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 3,
2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ ERNST & YOUuNG LLP

November 8, 2004
Boston, Massachusetts
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ZOLL Medical Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(000°s omitted, excejpt per share amounts) Oct. 3,2004 Sept. 28, 2003
Assets o
Current assets: |
Cash and cash equivalents ............oooiiiiiii i $ 40,685 $ 40,780
Marketable securities .........oonvii i [P S 18,325 19,992
Accounts receivable, less allowances.of $4,855 and $4,689 at October 3, 2004 and ‘
September; 28, 2003, respectively .. ... 51,038 47,906
Inventories:
Raw MIaterials ..ottt ittt ettt ettt e e e e e e 12,284 13,662
WOTK-ID-PIOCESS © & o v v vttt ettt e et e et e e e e e 4,379 4,712
Finished goods . .................. ... e e e 15,039 16,014
] 31,702 34,388
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ...ttt i 7,273 5,042
TOtal CUMTENE BSSEES . v v v v vt e it ettt et et e e e et 149,023 148,108
Property and equipment at cost: '
Land and buildings . ... ..ot e 1,136 3,527
Machinery and equipment ... ... ... e 39,949 34,512
Construction in progress ....... A R 3,834 1,147
TOOMIE v ittt et e e e e e 8,155 7,678
Furniture and fIXIUFES . . . . vttt oot oo e et e e 2,796 2,173
Leasehold IMPIOVETIENS . .« . o vt vt e ettt ettt e ae et e e aeeas 4417 3,789
60,287 52,826
Less accumulated depreciation ... ..............eueerruernanernariiatneai., 36,066 29,780
Net property and eqUIpment . ...ttt 24,221 23,046
INVESIIMENTS . o o ittt ettt ettt e e e e 9,858 12,804
NOtES TECEIVADIE . . . .ttt e e e 7,129 5,805
GOOAWILL ..o e e e : -3,281. 361
Intangibles and Other aSSels, MEL ... ..ttt un ettt ettt e et et e 13,680 1,972

$207,192 $192,096

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts Payable ... ...l $ 12,321 $ 12,204
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . .. ... .. .. 21,917 22,399
Total c{]urrent HaDIES « ot e v ettt e e e e e e 34,238 34,603

Deferred INCOMIE (AXES .« .. . oottt it ettt et ittt et e e 2,008 1,502

Commitments arid contingencies (Note I)

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 1,000 shares, none issued or outstanding . . ...
Common stock, $0.02 par value, authorized 19,000 shares, 9,309 and 9,063 issued and
outstanding at October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003, respectively ................ 186 181
Capital inexcessof par value .. ... ... ..t i e 105,916 99,714
Accumulated other comprehensive 10Ss .. ... . (2,018) (1,810)
Retained €AIMINGS . ..ottt e 66,862 57,906
Total stockholders’ equity ........ ... 170,946 155,991

$207,192 $192,096

See accompanying notes.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation

Consolidated Income Statements

YEAR ENDED
) Oct. 3, Sept. 28, Sept. 29,

(000’s omitted, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Nt Sales ..ot e e $211,785 $184,603 $150,227
Costof goods 501d . ... i 92,545 81,477 65,274
GIOSS PrOfit . . .t e 119,240 103,126 84,953
Expenses:

Sellingand marketing . .. ... 74,946 59,461 48,645
General and adminiStrative .. ... ...t e 14,504 12,404 11,193
Research and development . ......... ... ... ... . i i, 18,376 14,115 11,536
TOtal EXPONSES . . ottt e 107,826 85,980 71,374
Income from operations .. ........ ... . .. e 11,414 17,146 13,579
Investment and OthEr INCOME . . . ..ot it i it i 1,323 2,033 1,595
Income before income taxes ... ..ot 12,737 19,179 15,174
Provision for inCOME taXeS . .. ..ot ittt e 3,781 6,329 4,944
NELINCOME . . .ottt e e e e e e $ 8956 $ 12850 $ 10,230
Basic earnings per common share ............ ... e $ 097 § 142 % 115
Weighted average common shares outstanding . ........................ 9,191 9,030 8,919
Diluted earnings per common and common equivalent share .............. $§ 09 $ 140 $ 112
Weighted average common and common equivalent shares outstanding . . . .. 9,304 9,204 9,158

See accompanying notes.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation

Statemernts of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

Accumulated
Capital in Other Total
] Common Excess of Par Comprehensive Retained Stockholders’

(000’s omitted) , ' Shares Amount Value Income (Loss)  Earnings Equity
Balance at September 30, 2001 ... .. 8,884 $178 $ 96,414 $ 19 $34,826  $131,437
Exercise of stock options ........... S8 1 608 609
Tax benefit realized upon exercise of

stock options .................. 490 _ 490
Comprehensive income: :
Netincome . ..............cco.u.. 10,230 10,230
Unrealized loss én available-for-sale

SeCUrities ...\ ......c..eeinnn.. (151 (151)
Cumulative foreign currency

translation adjustment ........... (703) (703)
Total comprehensive income ........ 9,376
Balance at Septémber 29, 2002 ... ... 8,942 179 97,512 (835) 45,056 141,912
Exercise of stock options ........... 121 2 1,155 1,157
Tax benefit realized upon exercise of
~ stock options! ................ .. 1,047 1,047
Comprehensive|income:
Netincome ..........cccvvvvvnnnn. : 12,850 12,850
Unrealized loss lon available-for-sale C

SECUMHES .. v v e 43) 43)
Cumulative foreign currency

translation ad‘justment ........... (932) (932)
Total comprehensive income . ..... .. 11,875
Balance at September 28, 2003 . ... .. 9,063 181 99,714 (1,810) 57.906 155,991
Exercise of stock options ........... 245 5 5,109 5,114
Tax benefit realized upon exercise of

stockoptions .................. 1,093 1,093
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .............c.covnon.. 8,956 8,956
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale

securities ......... ... ... (98) (98)
Unrealized loss on derivatives . ... ... (18) (18)
Cumulative foreign currency

translation adjistment ........... (92) (92)
Total comprehqnsive income ........ 8,748

Balance at October 3,2004 ......... 9,308  $186  $105916 $(2,018)  $66,862  $170,946

See accompanying notes.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

YEAR ENDED
(000’s omitted) Oct. 3,2004  Sept. 28,2003  Sept. 29, 2002
Operating Activities:
Nt INCOME .ottt e e e $ 8956 $ 12,850 $ 10,230
Charges not affecting cash:
Depreciation and amortization .. ............c.o.0eeniaiaa .. 9,320 7,881 6,758
Tax benefit from the exercise of stock options ................. 1,093 1,047 490
Accounts receivable allowances ......... ... ... ... ... 1,181 1,227 682
INVENOTY TESEIVE . . v\ttt e it et e 1,056 453 341
Net realized gains on sale of marketable securities . ............. 161 (95) 227
Unrealized loss from hedging activities ................... ... 84 — -—
Provision for warranty Xpense . . ........... i, 1,315 961 665
Loss on disposal of building ............. ... .. ... ... .... 201 — —
Deferred income taxes . . ... vttt e e 919) (751) 128
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Accountsreceivable ....... ... (2,472) (5,148) (6,051)
INVENOTIES . .. oo e e 1,426 (6,853) (9,113)
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets . . ............... ..., (1,316) (686) (583)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. ... . o (5,166) 9,089 8,549
Net cash provided by operating activities . ...................... 14,920 19,975 11,869
Investing Activities:
Additions to property and equipment . ......... .. oo iion. (11,704) (10,879) (8,321)
Disposals of property and equipment ........................ 2,028 — —
Purchases of marketable securities .......................... (9,000) (25,382) (17,653)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities .. .... 10,074 15,390 23,458
Equity investments in private COmMpanies ..................... — (10,304) —
Equity investment in Revivant Corporation ................... (567) — —
Acquisition of Infusion Dynamics .................. ... ..... (6,924) — —
Acquisition of LifeCOR technology ................. ... .... (4,221)
Amounts advanced to LifeCOR under a line of credit ........... (721) — —
Issuance of note receivable to Revivant Corp. ................. — (5,000) —
Other assets, MEL . . .ot v v ittt e et et et e 604 65 311
Net cash used in investing activities ............................ (20,431) (36,610) (2,205)
Financing Activities: '
Exercise of stockoptions .. .......... . i i 5,114 1,157 609
Net cash provided by financing activities ....................... 5,114 1,157 609
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents ............ 302 600 82
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ............. 95) (14,878) 10,355
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningofyear .................. 40,780 55,658 45,303
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ....................... $ 40,685  $ 40,780 $ 55,658
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year:
INCOME LAXES .« o v v ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 6,180 $ 5,026 $ 3,816

See accompanying notes.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A-Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business: ZOLL Medical Corporation (*“the Company”’) designs, manufactures, markets and/
or sells non-invasive resuscitation devices and related software solutions. The Company’s products include
pacing and defibrillation devices, circulatory assist devices and a fluid resuscitation device. These devices help
healthcare professionals, emergency medical service providers, and first responders diagnose and treat victims of
trauma, as well as sudden cardiac arrest. Additionally, through its subsidiary ZOLL Data Systems, ZOLL designs
and markets software that automates the collection and management of both clinical and non-clinical data.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its wholly owned|subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ consolidated financial statements
to conform to the'2004 presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an origihal maturity
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents are invested in a money
market investment account. These amounts are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Marketable Securities: The Company accounts for marketable securities in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”
(“SFAS 115”). SFAS 115 establishes the accounting and reporting requirements for all debt securities and for
investments in eguity securities that have readily determinable fair values. All marketable securities must be
classified as one of the following: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading. The Company classifies its
marketable securities as available-for-sale and, as such, carries the investments at fair value, with unrealized
holding gains and losses reported in stockholders’ equity as a separate component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). The cost of securities sold is determined based on the specific identification
method. Realized gains and losses, and declines in value judged to be other than temporary, are included in
investment income.

Concentration of Risk: The Company sells its products primarily to hospitals, emergency care providers, the
U.S. military and university teaching hospitals. Collateral is generally not required. With the introduction of the
AED Plus product, the Company has established distribution agreements with approximately 180 distributors to
distribute this product. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition.
Total sales to various branches of the United States military were approximately $30 million in 2004, $15 million
in 2003, and $4 million in 2002. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total net
sales or accounts receivable.

In addition; the Company sells its products to the international market to both end users and distributors.
Although the Company does not foresee a credit risk associated with international receivables to either end users
or distributors, repayment is dependent upon the financial stability of the customers to which it sells. In order to
mitigate the risK of loss in geographical areas with historical credit risks, in some cases the Company requires
letters of credit from its foreign customers. Foreign sales accounted for 24%, 26% and 26% of the Company’s net
sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The percent of foreign sales to distributors was approximately 37% in
2004, 49% in 2003, and 48% in 2002. No single distributor or end-user customer accounts for a significant
portion of the Company’s international sales or accounts receivable. No individual foreign country represented a
significant portion of the Company’s sales or accounts receivable.

The Company maintains reserves for potential trade receivable credit losses, and such losses historically
have been within management’s expectations. These reserves are charged to bad debt expense when established.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Specifically identified reserves are charged to selling and marketing expenses. Provisions for general reserves are
charged to general and administrative expenses. The Company determines the adequacy of this allowance by
regularly reviewing the aging of its accounts receivable and evaluating individual customer receivables,
considering customers’ financial condition, historical experience, credit history and current economic condition.

Financial Instruments: Management estimates the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, which
include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, and accounts payable based on
assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and assumed discount rates
reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk. The carrying value of these financial instruments approximated their
fair value at October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003, respectively, due to the short-term nature of these
instruments.

The Company utilizes foreign currency forward contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk due
to fluctuations in exchange rates underlying the value of intercompany accounts receivable denominated in
foreign currencies and forecasted foreign currency denominated sales to subsidiaries. The Company accounts for
all derivative financial instruments (foreign currency forward contracts) in accordance with SFAS 133
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. Changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments are recorded in earnings unless hedge accounting criteria are met. For derivative instruments
designated as fair value hedges, the changes in fair value of both the derivative instrument and the hedged item
are recorded in earnings. For derivative instruments designed as cash flow and net investment hedges, the
effective portions of changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in other comprehensive income
(“OCI), and the ineffective portions are recognized in earnings. To date, the ineffective portions of changes in
the fair value of derivatives have not been material.

Inventories: Inventories, principally purchased parts, are valued at the lower of first-in, first-out (“FIFO™)
cost or market. Market is determined by the replacement value for raw materials and net realizable value, after
allowance for estimated costs of completion and disposal, for work-in-process and finished goods. The Company
provides a reserve for the total value of inventories that it determines to be excess or obsolete based on criteria
such as customer demand, changing technologies and forecasted usage. At October 3, 2004 and September 28,
2003, our inventory reserves were $3.4 million, or 9.7% of our $35.1 million gross inventories, and $2.4 million,
or 6.5% of our $36.8 million gross inventories, respectively.

Intangible Assets: Patents are stated at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over five years.
Prepaid license fees are amortized over the term of the related contract, once commercialization of the related
product begins.

In accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company tests its goodwill for
impairment at least annually by comparing the fair value of the reporting units to the carrying value of those
reporting units. Fair value is determined based on an estimate of the discounted future cash flows expected from
the reporting units. The determination of fair value requires significant judgment on the part of management
about future revenues, expenses and other assumptions that contribute to the net cash flows of the reporting units.
Additionally, the Company periodically reviews its goodwill for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an impairment indicator has occurred.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost. In general, depreciation is computed on
a straight-line basis over the estimated economic useful lives of the assets (forty years for buildings, three to ten
years for machinery and equipment and five years for tooling, furniture, fixtures, and software). Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life or the life of the related lease. Depreciation
expense totaled $8,617,000, $7,570,000 and $6,485,000 in fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
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ZOLL Medical Corporation

Notes te Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

On July 30, 2004, the Company completed the sale of its building in Boulder, Colorado where the data
management software office was located. The building was acquired as part of the Company’s acquisition of
ZOLL Data Systems, Inc. (formerly Pinpoint Technologies, Inc.). In conjunction with its need for additional
space, ZOLL Data Systems was not in the business of owning real estate and, therefore, decided to sell the
building. The building was sold for approximately $2.2 million. The carrying value of the building was
approximately $2.2 million. The Company recognized approximately $201,000 loss, net of selling costs, and is
included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of income.

Long-lived'Assets: The Company reviews long-lived assets at least annually to determine if any adverse
conditions exist that would indicate impairment. Conditions that would trigger an impairment assessment
include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factors or business climate that could affect
the value of an asset or an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
the sum of its discounted cash flows, the carrying value is written down to fair value in the period identified. Fair
value is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

Investments: Investments in those entities where the Company owns less than twenty percent of the voting
stock of the individual entity and does not exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of
the entity are accounted for using the cost method. Investments in those entities where the Company owns less
than twenty percent of the voting stock of the individual entity and does exercise significant influence over
operating and financial policies of the entity are accounted for using the equity method. As of October 3, 2004
and September 28, 2003, the Company’s investments were in companies that are not publicly traded, and,
therefore, no established market for their securities exists. The Company has a policy in place to review the fair
value of its investments on a regular basis to evaluate the carrying value of the investments in these companies. If
the Company believes that the carrying value of an investment is in excess of estimated fair value, it is the
Company’s policy to record an impairment charge to adjust the carrying value to estimated fair value, if the
impairment is deemed other-than-temporary.

As of October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003, the Company had investments of $9.9 million and $12.8
million, respectively.

Revenue Recognition: Revenues from sales of cardiac resuscitation devices, disposable electrodes and
accessories are recognized when a signed non-cancelable purchase order exists, the product is shipped, title and
risk have passed to the customer, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection is considered probable.
Circumstances which generally preclude the immediate recognition of revenue include shipping terms of FOB
destination or the existence of a customer acceptance clause in a contract based upon customer inspection of the
product. In these instances, revenue is deferred until adequate documentation is obtained to ensure that these
criteria have been fulfilled. Similarly, revenues from the sales of products to distributors fall under the same
guidelines. Forall significant orders placed by distributors, the Company requires an approved purchase order, it
performs a credit review, and it ensures that the terms on the purchase order or contract are proper and do not
include any contingencies which preclude revenue recognition. The Company does not offer any special right of
return, stock rotation or price protection to its distributors or the end customers.

Sales to customers often include a cardiac resuscitation device, disposable electrodes and other accessories.
For the vast majority of shipments, all deliverables are shipped together. In cases where some elements of a
multiple element arrangement are not delivered as of a reporting date, the Company defers the fair value of the
undelivered elements and only recognizes the revenue related to the delivered elements in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”. Revenues are
recorded net of estimated returns. Some sales to customers of cardiac resuscitation devices may include some
data collectionsoftware. The cardiac resuscitation device and software product can operate independently of each
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other and one does not impede the functionality of the other. In cases where both elements are included in a
customer’s order but only one has been delivered by the reporting date, the Company defers the fair value of the
undelivered element and recognizes the revenue related to the delivered item.

The Company also licenses software under non-cancelable license agreements and provides services
including training, installation, consulting and maintenance, which consist of product support services, periodic
updates and unspecified upgrade rights (collectively, post-contract customer support (“PCS”)). Revenue from the
sale of software is recognized in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended. License fee
revenues are recognized when a non-cancelable license agreement has been signed, the software product has
been shipped, there are no uncertainties surrounding product acceptance, the fees are fixed and determinable, and
collection is considered probable. Revenues from maintenance agreements and upgrade rights are recognized
ratably over the period of service. Revenue for services, such as software deployment, is recognized when the
deployment is completed.

The Company’s software arrangements contain multiple elements, which include software products,
services and PCS. Generally, the Company does not sell computer hardware products with its software products.
The Company will occasionally facilitate the hardware purchase by providing information to the customer such
as where to purchase the equipment. The Company does not have vendor specific objective evidence of fair value
for its software products. The Company does, however, have vendor specific objective evidence of fair vatue for
items such as technical services, maintenance, upgrades and support for the software products based upon the
price charged when such items are sold separately. Accordingly, for transactions where vendor specific objective
evidence exists for undelivered elements but not for delivered elements, the residual method is used as discussed
in SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, With Respect to Certain Transactions.” Under the residual method, the
total fair value of the undelivered elements, as indicated by vendor specific objective evidence, is deferred and
the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered elements is
recognized as revenue related to the delivered elements.

The Company does not ship any of its software products to distributors or resellers. Software products are
sold only by its sales force directly to the end user. The Company may sell software to system integrators who
provide complete solutions to end users on a contract basis.

Advertising Costs: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $2,127,000, $1,805,000 and
$1,457,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

Shipping & Handling Costs: Shipping and handling costs are recorded in Costs of Goods Sold and totaled
$3,453,000, $2,675,000 and $2,216,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Product Warranty: Expected future product warranty costs, included in accrued expenses and other
liabilities, are recognized at the time of sale for all products covered under warranty. Warranty periods range
from one to five years. The Company estimates its warranty reserve requirement based upon the number of units
remaining under warranty and the historical per unit repair costs and return rates, and specific known warranty
issues.

Product warranty activity for the twelve months ended October 3, 2004 is as follows:

Accruals for Warranties

Balance at Issued During the Decrease to Preexisting Balance at
(000’s omitted) September 28, 2003 Period Warranties October 3, 2004
$2,109 $1,315 $745 $2,679
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Research and Development Expenses for Software Products: The Company evaluates whether to capitalize
or expense software development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. The Company sells products in a market that is subject to
rapid technologlcal change, new product development and changing customer needs; accordingly, the Company
has concluded that technological feasibility is not established until the development stage of the product is nearly
complete. The Company defines technological feasibility as the completion of a working model. The time period
during which costs could be capitalized from the point of reaching technological feasibility until the time of
general product :release, is very short and, consequently, the amounts that could be capitalized are not material to
the Company’s financial position or results of operations. Therefore, the Company has charged all such costs to
research and dev;elopment in:the period incurred.

Foreign Currency: During fiscal 2002, the Company changed the functional currency for the majority of its
foreign subsidiaries from the U.S. Dollar to the local currency. This change stems from a majority of the foreign
subsidiary cash .flows now being denominated in the local currency. For fiscal 2002, the year in which this
change was implemented, approximately $700,000 of foreign currency exchange losses generated from the
financial statement translation was included in the other comprehensive income section of stockholders’ equity.
The functional ¢urrency for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is each country’s local currency. All assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollar equivalents at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Translation gains or losses are
recorded in stockholders’ equity as an element of accumulated other comprehensive income. The Company also
incurs transactional gains and losses resulting from transactions denominated in foreign currencies and the
translation of 1nterc0mpany balances. Such items are recorded as other income in the consolidated income
statement and totaled $329,000, $932,000 and ($171,000) in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Stock-Baseﬂ Compensation: The Company has adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of SFAS No. 1237, which amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements
about the meth¢>d of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on
reported results. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” ((“SFAS 123”) provides a fair value-based model of accounting for stock options and awards. As
permitted by SEAS 123, the Company measures compensation expense for its stock-based compensation plans
using the intrinsic method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured as the difference, if any,
between the exércise price of the stock option or award and the fair value of the Company’s common stock on
the date of the grant. In accordance with SFAS 123, the Company has provided the pro forma disclosures of the
effect on net income and earnings per share as if SFAS 123 had been applied in measuring compensation expense
for all periods ‘presented using a fair value model. Stock options and awards issued to non-employees are
accounted for based on fair value.
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No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all options granted under the
Company’s stock compensation plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the grant date. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value model of SFAS 123, to the stock-based employee compensation. The
estimated fair value of each option is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:

(000’s omitted, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Netincome-as reported . ... ... ..o . $ 8,956 312,850 $10,230
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair

value based methods for all awards, net of related tax effects ............... (2,637) (2,938) (2434
Net income-pro forma . ... ...ttt e $6,319 $ 9912 § 7,796
Earnings per share: . ... ... .. e
Basic —asreported . ... ... e $ 097 $ 142 3% 1.15
Basic~proforma ........ ... $ 069 $ 110 $ 087
Diluted —asteported .. ... ...t $ 096 $ 140 § 112
Diluted — Pro fOrMa . . ..ottt $ 069 $ 108 § 085

The above pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on reported net income for future
years. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Dividend yield . . . ... . o 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility ... ... ... i e 66.4% T11.8% T4.1%
Risk-free Interest 1ate . ...t 343% 3.69% 4.19%
Expected iVes . .. ..o e 5years 5years 5 years

Earnings per Share: Basic earnings per share are calculated based upon the weighted average shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated based upon the weighted
average shares of common stock outstanding, plus the dilutive effect of stock options, calculated using the
treasury stock method. The shares used for basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common
share are reconciled as follows:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002

Average shares outstanding for basic earnings pershare . .......................... 9,191 9,030 8919
Dilutive effect of Stock Options ... ... .. i e 113 174 239
Average shares outstanding for diluted earnings pershare ......................... 9,304 9,204 9,158

Average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share does not include 543,247, 449,683 and 337,239
common shares for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, as their effect would have been antidilutive.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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Comprehensive Income: The Company computes comprehensive income in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income” (“SFAS 130”). SFAS 130
establishes standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components in the financial
statements. Other comprehensive income, as defined, includes all changes in equity during a period from non-
owner sources, such as unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and the effect of foreign
currency translation. Accumulated balances for each element of other comprehensive loss were as follows:

{000’s omitted) 2004 2003
Unrealized losslon available-for-sales securities, netof tax ........................... $ 109) $ (1D
Unrealized loss|on derivatives, netof tax . . ... < (18) —_
Cumulative foréign currency translation .. ... ..., (1,891) (1,799
Accumulated ot‘iher COmMPTEnenSIvE LOSS . .ottt e $(2,018) $(1,810)

l

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission released
Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, Revenue Recognition, which supersedes SAB 101, Revenue
Recognition in! Financial Statements. SAB 104 clarifies existing guidance regarding revenue contracts that
contain multiple deliverables to make it consistent with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 00-21. The
adoption of SAB 104 did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 46R,
a revision to FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIN
46 and exempts certain entities from its requirements. FIN 46R is effective at the end of the first interim period
ending after Mf‘"irch 15, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on the Company’s results
of operations or financial position.

In March Q004, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments. EITF 03-1 includes new guidance for evaluating and recording
impairment losses on debt and equity investments, as well as new disclosure requirements for investments that
are deemed to be temporarily impaired. In September 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position EITF 03-1-1, which
delays the effective date until additional guidance is issued for the application of the recognition and
measurement p’rovisions of EITF 03-1 to investments in securities that are impaired; however, the disclosure
requirements afe effective for annual periods ending after June 15, 2004. Although the Company will continue to
evaluate the application of EITF 03-1, management does not currently believe adoption will have a material
impact on its results of operations or financial position

In October 2004, the FASB concluded that the proposed Statement 123R, Share-Based Payment, which
would require iall companies to measure compensation cost for all share-based payments, including employee
stock options, at fair value, would be effective for public companies (except small business issuers as defined in
SEC Regulation S-B) for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The FASB has tentatively
concluded that companies could adopt the new standard using either the “modified prospective transition
method” or the “modified retrospective transition method.” Under the modified prospective transition method, a
company would recognize share-based employee compensation cost from the beginning of the fiscal period in
which the recognition provisions are first applied as if the fair-value-based accounting method had been used to
account for all employee awards granted, modified, or settled after the effective date and to any awards that were
not fully vested as of the effective date. Measurement and attribution of compensation cost for awards that are
not vested as of the effective date of the proposed Statement would be based on the same estimate of the grant-
date fair value and the same attribution method used previously under Statement 123 (either for recognition or
pro forma purposes). Under the modified retrospective transition method, a company would recognize employee
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compensation cost for periods presented prior to the adoption of Statement 123R in accordance with the original
provisions of Statement 123; that is, an entity would recognize employee compensation cost in the amounts
reported in the pro forma disclosures provided in accordance with Statement 123. A company would not be
permitted to make any changes to those amounts upon adoption of the proposed Statement unless those changes
represent a correction of an error (and are disclosed accordingly). For periods after the date of adoption of
Statement 123R, the modified prospective transition method described above would be applied. The Company is
in the process of determining the impact of this statement on its consolidated financial statements.

Note B-Marketable Securities

Investments in marketable securities and debt securities are classified as available-for-sale at October 3,
2004, and September 28, 2003. Available-for-sale securities consist of corporate obligations of $18.3 million and
$20.0 million as of October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003, respectively.

The securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders’ equity as a
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. At October 3, 2004 and September 28, 2003,
the investment portfolio had gross unrealized losses of $109,000 and $12,000, respectively. Net loss reclassified
from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings was approximately $48,000 in 2004, $27,000 in 2003
and $0 in 2002. The Company realized losses of $161,000 on sales of available-for-sale securities in 2004, gains
of $127,000 and losses of $32,000 in 2003, and gains of $227,000 in 2002. The market value of investments
maturing between one and five years is $9.3 million, and of ten years and greater is $9.0 million.

Note C-Investments

As of September 28, 2003, the Company held a $3.5 million investment in the common stock of LifeCOR,
Inc. (“LifeCOR”) (or approximately 5% of LifeCOR’s outstanding common stock), a privately owned medical
equipment company that designs, manufactures and markets a wearable external defibrillator system. During
fiscal 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to distribute LifeCOR’s products in the North American
Hospital market, and also entered into a patent cross-licensing agreement. In March 2004, the Company entered
into a license agreement with LifeCOR for exclusive marketing and distribution rights to LifeCOR’s technology
for in-hospital use and an option to purchase the remainder of LifeCOR’s assets. In consideration for the rights,
the Company paid $5 million in cash and returned the $3.5 million equity investment previously maintained in
LifeCOR. See Note D-Acquisitions for further discussion of the LifeCOR transaction.

In January 2003, the Company invested $1.3 million in the common stock of Advanced Circulatory
Systems, Inc. (formerly ResQSystems, Inc.), a development stage medical device corporation. The Company’s
investment in Advanced Circulatory Systems, Inc. (“ACSI”) represented approximately 6.8% of ACSI’s
outstanding common stock as of October 3, 2004.

In August 2003, the Company invested a total of $12 million in Revivant Corporation (“Revivant”), a
private medical device corporation. Of the $12 million invested, $7 million was invested in the preferred stock of
Revivant and $5 million represented debt financing (“Note”). In addition, in 2004, the Company invested an
additional $567,000 in Revivant preferred stock. The Company’s ownership percentage in Revivant
approximates 15% and includes an option to acquire the remaining outstanding shares of Revivant at any time
through October 4, 2004. The terms of the Note require quarterly interest payments with an interest rate of 10%
per year maturing on June 30, 2007. On October 4, 2004, the Company announced that it was exercising its
option to acquire Revivant which is discussed further in Note P — Subsequent Event.

The Company accounts for these investments at cost, which approximates market.

The Company does not have any joint ventures.
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Note D-Acquisitions

In March!2004, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with LifeCOR, Inc. (“LifeCOR”).
LifeCOR is a privately owned medical equipment company that designs, manufactures and markets a wearable
external defibrillator system. The agreement represents another move to broaden the Company’s product
offerings in the resuscitation arena. The Company believes the wearable defibrillator has the potential to become
an integral part of the Chain of Survival by providing both the patient and staff the benefit of unhindered patient
mobility. The licensed technology includes LifeCOR’s LifeePadz System, which is a next-generation in-hospital
wearable cardioverter defibrillator which received clearance from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
in May 2004. Under this license agreement, the Company acquired exclusive marketing and distribution rights to
LifeCOR’s technology for in-hospital use in exchange for $5 million in cash and the return of the $3.5 million
equity investment that the Company previously maintained in LifeCOR. The Company is also providing a
working capital line of credit secured by LifeCOR’s accounts receivable and other assets. No voting interest was
acquired in the agreement. In addition, the Company has obtained an option, exercisable through October 2005,
to purchase the remainder of LifeCOR’s assets. If the option is exercised, the Company will assume LifeCOR’s
debt, estimated to be $6.5 million, and will make earn out payments to LifeCOR’s shareholders based upon
future revenue growth of the acquired business over a five-year period. Because future payments are based on the
growth of sales over a five-year period, a reasonable estimate of the total acquisition cost cannot be determined.

Of the $8.5 million total value of the LifeCOR transaction, $7.2 million was assigned to license fees with a
useful life of 25 years, and $1.3 million to the purchase option.

In March 2004, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Infusion Dynamics, Inc. (“Infusion”).
Infusion is a privately owned medical equipment company that manufactures a fluid resuscitation product called
the Power Infuser® The Power Infuser is a small, lightweight, easy-to-use device, which provides highly
controlled, rapid delivery of intravenous (IV) fluids to trauma victims. The addition of fluid resuscitation
capability fits within the Company’s strategic vision of providing resuscitation technologies that move the
Company beyond the defibrillation shock. The product will fit within the existing distribution networks to
customers. No voting interest was acquired in the acquisition. Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company
paid approximately $6.4 million in cash, assumed liabilities of approximately $200,000, and is obligated to make
additional eamn out and royalty payments (“contingencies”) over the next several years based on performance of
the business. Since potential future payments are based on the growth of sales, a reasonable estimate of the total
purchase pﬁbe cannot be determined. When these contingencies are resolved and the consideration is
distributable,; the Company will record the fair value of the additional consideration as additional cost of the
acquired assets. Beginning March 1, 2004, the results of operations of Infusion are included in the consolidated
income statement of the Company.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s estimate of the fair values of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition.

(000’s omitted)
Assets: ‘
CUITEIE ASSELS .« o v v o ettt e et e e et e e e e e e e e e $§ 680
Property and equipment .. ...... ... . 131
Goodwill . .. 2,533
Intangible assets subject to amortization (estimated 10 year weighted-average

useful life): ..o e 3,403
Total assets acquired ........... ... ... ... ... $6,747
Liabilities:
Current Habilities . ... .ottt it i e e $ 195
Total liabilities assumed . ........... ... ... ... ... .. ...... R 195
Netassets acquired . . .......... ... i, $6,552

The $2.5 million of goodwill will be assigned to our only reportable segment which is the design,
manufacture and marketing of an integrated line of proprietary non-invasive resuscitation devices, and systems
used for the treatment of victims of trauma, including sudden cardiac arrest. All of the goodwill is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes. The intangibles acquired included $3.3 million for patents and $100,000 for
backlog. The backlog has been expensed in fiscal 2004. The patents will be amortized over 10 years.

Supplemental Pro Forma Information—Unaudited

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of income for the year ended October 3, 2004
gives effect to the acquisition of Infusion as if the acquisition had occurred at September 30, 2002 after giving
effect to certain adjustments, including amortization of the intangibles subject to amortization and related income
taxes.

The unaudited proforma combined condensed statements of income are not necessarily indicative of the
financial results that would have occurred if the Infusion acquisition had been consummated on September 30,
2002, nor are they necessarily indicative of the financial results which may be attained in the future.

The proforma statement of income is based upon available information and upon certain assumptions that
ZOLL’s management believes are reasonable. The Infusion acquisition is being accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary. Final amounts could differ from those
reflected in the pro forma statement of income, and such differences could be significant.

Twelve Months Ended
Unaudited

(000°s omitted, except per share data) Oct. 3, 2004 Sept. 28, 2003
Nt SAIES oottt e $215,288 $191,512
NELINCOME . .o\ttt et et et e et ettt $ 92873 $ 14,691
Net income per common share

BaSIC ... $ 107 $ 163
Diluted ... .. e e $ 1.06 $ 1.60
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Note E-Prepaiﬂ Expenses and Other Current Assets

| .
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of:

(000’s omitted) Oct. 3,2004  Sept. 28,2003 [
Deferred incomie taxes-Note T . ... ... $4,576 $3,151
(137 2,697 1,891
Total prepaid e}(penses and other currentassets ............. ... .. ..., $7,273 $5,042

|
Note F-Intangibles and Other Assets
Intangibles and other assets consist of:

Oct. 3, 2004 Sept. 28, 2003
Weighted  Gross ' Gross
Average Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(000’s omitted) Life Amount  Amortization Amount Amortization
Prepaid license fees ........ ... ... oo, 2] years $ 9,413 $1,158 $1,664 $ 687
Patents ... ... oot 9 years 4,583 665 576 53

OtREr SSEES & v v vt e e e e e et — 2,937 1,430 1,706 1,234
‘ $16,933  $3,253 $3,946 $1,974

Total amortization expense for the fiscal years ended October 3, 2004 was approximately $660,000 as
compared to approximately $311,000 and approximately $273 000 for the years ended September 28, 2003 and

September 29, 2002, respectively.

The followmg table provides estimated amortization expense for each of the five succeedmg fiscal years
based upon the Company’s intangible asset portfolio at October 3, 2004.

Estimated
Amortization
. ‘ Expense
Fiscal Year (000’s omitted)
2000 e $ 1,222
2006 L 1,135
2007 ..... e e e e e e e e e e 1,053
2008 L e e 883
2000 811
Ther“eafter ..................................................... 8,576
| | $13,680
Note G-Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued fexpenses and other liabilities consist of:
(000’s omitted) * Oct. 3,2004  Sept. 28, 2003
Accrued salaries and wages and related eXpenses . .......... . it $ 6,388 $ 7477
Accrued WarTANLY EXPEINSE . . v\ vt et ettt ettt e et e 2,679 2,109
DEferTed TEVEIUE . . .\ oot o ittt e et e et e e e e et e e e e 2,648 1,864
Deferred lease inCentives . ...ttt e i e e 3,204 2,789
Accrued corporate INCOIME LAXES .« v vt ittt ettt ettt ettt e ittt 1,503 2,277
Other accrued €XPenses . ...t 5,495 5,883 !
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities . ... ..., $21,917  $22,399 ’
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Note H-Line of Credit

The Company maintains an unsecured working capital line of credit with its bank with borrowing capacity
up to $12 million. This line of credit bears interest at the bank’s base rate (4.75% at October 3, 2004). The full
amount of the line was available to the Company at October 3, 2004. There are no covenants related to this line
of credit.

Note I-Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002
Federal: v
CUI Ot L e e e $3,634 $4,435 83,717
Deferred . ... e e e e e 817) (393 (15)
2,817 3,840 3,702
State:
L1 5 ¢=) 1} A 690 909 680
Deferred ... o e e e e (83) 77 (113)
607 832 567
Foreign:
L3¢ ¢ | S O 357 1,657 675
Deferred .. e e —_ — —_

357 1,657 675
$3,781 $6,329 $4,944

The following table allocates income before taxes between domestic and foreign jurisdictions:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002
DOmMESHC . . . ottt e $11,895 $13,557 $13,965
Boreign .. e 842 5,622 1,209

$12,737 $19,179 $15,174

The income tax provision differed from the statutory federal income tax provision as follows:

!

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002
Income taxes at StAtULOTY TALE . . ..\ vt e vttt i e s e ettt et en e e $4,458 $6,713 $5,327
Tax credits, federal and state ............ ...t (393)  (533) (606)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit . ........ ... ... .. . . . . 414 541 369
Unbenefited foreign 10ss ... ..o e (124)  (125) 155
Foreign income taxes at differentrates ............. .. ... .. ... . .. ... (197)  (109) —
Permanent differences . ........... i e e (72) 32 19
71175 (305) 190y  (320)

$3,781 $6,329 $4,944
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(000’s omitted) Oct. 3,2004  Sept. 28,2003
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable and inventory ................. . $1,887 $1,378
Product warranty accruals ... ... .. 1,256 1,004
Research and development benefits ........... ... ... ... . i 437 199
Other liabilities . . ... ... . e 1,888 1,451
Total deferred tax assets . ... 5,468 4,032
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated tax depreciation .. .... ...ttt 2,580 2,063
Prepaid €XPenses . . ... ottt e e e 320 320
Total deferred tax Habilities . .. ... ..oovure et 2,900 2,383
Netdeferred tax asset ... ..ottt e e $2,568 $1,649

Note J-Commitments and Contingencies

In the course of normal operations, the Company is involved in litigation arising from commercial disputes,
claims from former employees and product liability claims, none of which management believes will have a
material effect/on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

On November 25, 2002, the Company announced a settlement of a patent infringement lawsuit initiated in
March 2002 by Cardiac Science, Inc. The settlement includes the cross-licensing of a number of patents between
the Company and Cardiac Science, Inc. The Company paid an initial licensing fee and will pay certain ongoing
royalties to Cardiac Science, Inc. The settlement did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
position and results of operations.

The Company leases certain office and manufacturing space under operating leases. The Company’s office
leases are subject to adjustments based on actual floor space occupied. The leases also require payment of real
estate taxes and operating costs. In addition to the office leases, the Company leases automobiles for business use
by a portion of the sales force. Listed below are the future minimum rental payments required under operating
leases with noh-cancelable terms in excess of one year at October 3, 2004.

(000°§ omitted)

2005 $ 2,120
2000 . .0 1,851
2007 o 1,604
2008 e 1,510
2009 . 1,479

$10.468

Total renjtal expense under operating leases was approximately $1,979,000, $1,467,000 and $1,372,000 in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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In addition to future minimum lease obligations noted in the table above, the Company also has one non-
cancelable purchase commitment in the amount of approximately $419,000 for the purchase of one critical raw
material component. All of this commitment is for fiscal 2005.

The Company also has certain contractual obligations that are contingent upon the achievement of certain
milestones that are not included in the table above. These include the milestone payments, tied to the completion
of certain clinical trials of the AutoPulse™ Resuscitation System through 2006. These arrangements are not
considered contractual obligations until the milestone is met. As of October 3, 2004, assuming all future
milestones were met, additional required payments would be approximately $15 million in cash and Company
stock.

The Company has other contractual obligations that are contingent upon performance and growth of sales
related to its acquisition that are also not included in the table above. These include the additional earn out
payments and royalty payments for Infusion Dynamics through fiscal 2006; additional earn out payments for
Revivant Corporation through fiscal 2007; and if it exercises its option, the additional earn out payments for
LifeCOR through fiscal 2009. Because all of these earn-out and royalty payments are based upon the growth of
sales over several years, a reasonable estimate of the future payment obligations cannot be determined.

Note K-Hedging Activities

The Company operates globally, and its earnings and cash flow are exposed to market risk from changes in
currency exchange rates, The Company addresses these risks through a risk management program that includes
the use of derivative financial instruments. The program is operated pursuant to documented corporate risk
management policies. The Company does not enter into any derivative transaction for speculative purposes.

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage its currency transaction exposures. These
currency forward contracts are not designated as cash flow, fair value or net investment hedges under SFAS 133
and therefore, are marked-to-market with changes in fair value recorded to earnings. These derivative
instruments do not subject the Company’s earnings or cash flows to material risk since gains and losses on those
derivatives offset losses and gains on the assets and liabilities being hedged. These derivative instruments are
entered into for periods consistent with the currency transaction exposures, generally three months,

The Company had one foreign currency forward contract outstanding at October 3, 2004, serving as a hedge
of a substantial portion of its Euro-denominated intercompany balances, in the notional amount of approximately
4.5 million Euros. This foreign currency forward contract settles on January 4, 2005. The net settlement amount
of this contract at October 3, 2004 was an unrealized loss of approximately $51,000. At September 28, 2003, the
Company had one contract in the notional amount of approximately 4.0 million Euros with an unrealized loss of
approximately $30,000, which settled in January 2004.

Net recognized losses from foreign currency forward contracts, serving as a hedge of a substantial portion of
the Company’s Euro-denominated intercompany balances, totaled $368,000 and $357,000 during 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and are included in “investment and other income” in the consolidated statement of income. The
Company did not enter into any derivative contracts in fiscal 2002.

The Company also uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage its currency transaction exposures
from forecasted foreign currency denominated sales to subsidiaries. These currency forward contracts are
designed as cash flow hedges under SFAS 133; therefore, the effective portion of the derivative’s change in fair
value is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and will be reclassified into earnings in the
same period or periods during which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion
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of the derivative’ls change in fair value would be recognized currently through earnings regardless of whether the
instrument is designated as a hedge.

At October 3, 2004, the Company had four foreign currency forward contracts outstanding, all maturing in

"less than twelve 'months, to exchange the Euro, British Pound, Australian Dollar and Canadian Dollar for U.S.

Dollars totaling $1.7 miilion. The net settlement amount of these contracts at October 3, 2004 was an unrealized
loss of approximately $18,000.

Net recognized losses from foreign currency forward contracts, serving as a hedge of our forecasted foreign
currency denominated sales to subsidiaries, totaled $340,000 during 2004 and are included in “net sales” in the
consolidated statement of income. Also during 2004, the Company had an ineffective portion of its British Pound
cash flow hedgeﬁin the amount of 4,000 GBP. Because of its immateriality, the net loss on this ineffective portion
was reported injnet sales and not reclassified to investment and other income on the consolidated statement of
income. No other portion of these hedges were ineffective during 2004. The Company did not enter into any
derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges in fiscal 2003 or 2002.

Note L-Stockhélder’s Equity

Preferred Stock: On June 8, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan. In
connection with the Shareholder Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of one
Preferred Stock; purchase right for each outstanding share of Common Stock to stockholders of record as of the
close of business day on June 9, 1998. Initially, these rights are not exercisable and trade with the shares of
ZOLL’s Common Stock. Under the Shareholder Rights Plan, the rights generally become exercisable if a person
becomes an “acquiring person” by acquiring 15% or more of the Common Stock of ZOLL, if a person who owns
10% or more of the Common Stock of ZOLL is determined to be an “adverse person” by the Board of Directors
or if a person commences a tender offer that would result in that person owning 15% or more of the Common
Stock of ZOLL. Under the Shareholder Rights Plan, a shareholder of ZOLL who beneficially owns 15% or more
of the Company’s Common Stock as of June 9, 1998 generally will be deemed an “acquiring person” if such
shareholder acquires additional shares of the Company’s Common Stock. In the event that a person becomes an
“acquiring person” or is declared an “adverse person” by the Board, each holder of a right (other than the
acquiring persan or the adverse person) would be entitled to acquire such number of shares of Preferred Stock
which are equivalent to ZOLL Common Stock having a value of twice the then-current exercise price of the
right. If ZOLL is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction after any such event, each
holder of a right would then be entitled to purchase, at the then-current exercise price, shares of the acquiring
company’s Common Stock having a value twice the exercise price of the right. The Board of Directors is
authorized to fix the designations, relative rights, preferences and limitations on the Preferred Stock at the time of
issuance. To date, no shares of preferred stock have been issued.

Stock Opt‘ion Plans: The Company’s 1992 and 2001 stock option plans provide for the granting of options to
officers and other key employees to purchase the Company’s Common Stock at a purchase price, in the case of
incentive stock options, at least equal to the fair market value per share of the outstanding Common Stock of the
Company at the time the option is granted, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. Options are no longer being granted under the 1992 plan. The options become exercisable ratably over
two or four yeéars and have maximum life of 10 years. The Company’s Non-employee Director Stock Option
Plan provides for the granting of options to purchase shares of Common Stock to Directors of the Company who
are not also employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The Non-employee Director options vest in
equal annual installments over a four year period. The Non-employee Director options may be exercised at a
price equal to jthe fair market value of the Common Stock on the date the option is granted.
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The number of shares authorized for these plans was 3,430,000, of which approximately 386,000 remain
available for grant at October 3, 2004. Approximately 1,611,000 shares of Common Stock are reserved for future
issuance under the Company’s stock option plans as of October 3, 2004.

Activity as to stock options under all of the plans is as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
(000’s omitted, except per share data) Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at the beginning of the year ... 1,289 $32.75 1,144 $31.91 996 $22.65
Granted ......... ... ... .. ... 218 33.08 303 34.35 228 35.17
Exercised ................ ... ..... (245) 24.00 (121) 12.17 (58) 14.60 ‘
Cancelled ........................ (37 34.25 (37) 33.96 (22) 32.29 ‘
Outstanding at the end of the year . ... .. ... 1,225 $33.94 1,289 $32.75 1,144 $31.91
Available for grant at the end of the year . .. 386 127 388
Exercisable at the end of the year ......... 639 618 671
Weighted-average fair value of options
granted during the year ............... $18.74 $21.14 $22.05
Weighted-average exercise price of options ‘
exercisable at the end of the year ....... $34.21 $31.06 $29.75

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at October 3,
2004.

(000’s omitted, except per share data) Options Cutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average Weighted- Weighted-
Range of Number Remaining Average Number Average
w Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 0.02 1% 5.03 years $ 0.02 1 $ 0.02
$ 6.57-% 8.5 .86 2.86 years $ 7.25 86 $ 725
$ 9.56-$12.31 45 4.45 years $10.79 45 $10.79
$20.25-$25.88 124 6.62 years $22.61 87 $22.68
$29.08-$33.76 384 8.45 years $31.89 107 $31.91
$33.94-$39.92 505 7.38 years $36.54 242 $37.06
$40.13-$42.94 35 6.25 years $41.58 26 $41.58
$43.13-$51.25 45 5.77 years $46.15 45 $46.15
$ 0.02-$51.25 1,225 7.12 years $33.94 639 . $34.21

* represents options granted to a subsidiary’s employee prior to its acquisition by the Company.

Note M-Employee Benefit Plans

Defined contribution retirement plan: ZOLL has a defined contribution retirement plan (the “Plan”) which
contains a “401(k)” program for all employees with three months of service who have attained 21 years of age.
Participants in the Plan may contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation. The Company may make
discretionary matching contributions to the Plan in an amount determined by its Board of Directors. The
employer match is currently set at 25% of the employee contribution up to 7% of eligible compensation. The
Company recorded expense related to Company contributions of approximately $420,000, $424,000 and
$293,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to the plan.

61



ZOLL Medical Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

401(k) Salary Deferral Plan: Beginning in 1998, ZOLL Data Systems has maintained a retirement savings
plan (the “ZOLL Data Systems Plan™) pursuant to which eligible employees may defer compensation for income
tax purposes under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue code of 1986. Participants in the ZOLL Data Systems
Plan may contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation, which contributions are matched by the Company
at 50% of the employee contribution up to 6% of eligible compensation. The Company may make discretionary
matching contributions to the ZOLL Data Systems Plan in an amount determined by its Board of Directors. The
Company recorded expense related to Company contributions to the ZOLL Data Systems Plan of approximately
$127,000, $100,000 and $73,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, reéspectively.

Note N-Segment and Geographic Information

Segment Information: The Company operates in a single business segment: the design, manufacture and
marketing of an integrated line of proprietary non-invasive resuscitation devices, and systems used for
emergency resuscitation of cardiac arrest victims. In order to make operating and strategic decisions, ZOLL’s
chief operating ;decision maker evaluates revenue performance based on the worldwide revenues of four
customer/product categories. However, due to shared infrastructures, profitability is evaluated based on an
enterprise-wide measure. These customer/product categories consist of (1) the sale of resuscitation devices, data
management software, and accessories to the North American hospital market, (2) the sale of the same items and
data collection management software to North American pre-hospital market, (3) the sale of disposable/other
products in North America, (4) the sale of resuscitation devices and accessories and disposable electrodes and
data management software to the international market.

Net sales by customer/product categories were as follows:

(000’s omitted) . 2004 2003 2002

. Hospital Markeﬁ-North AMETICA .ottt e e $ 88,110 $ 63,558 $ 50,686
Pre-hospital Market-North America .............. ... 62,435 55,357 46,958
Other-North America .. ... ... i e et 19,982 19,602 19,372
International Market-excluding North America . ........................ 41,258 46,086 33,211

$211,785 $184,603 $150,227

The Company reports assets on a consolidated basis to the chief operating decision maker.

Geographijc information: Net sales by major geographical area, determined on the basis of destination of the
goods, are as follows:

(000’s omitted) 2004 2003 2002

United STALES . o . v vt e e e e e $161,414 $137,510 $111,978
Foreign ...... e e 50,371 47,093 38,249

$211,785 $184,603 $150,227

Long-lived assets located outside the United States are not material.

In each of the years in the three year period ended October 3, 2004, no single customer represented over
10% of the Company’s consolidated net sales.
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Note O-Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly financial data for 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Quarter Ended
{000’s omitted, except per share data) Oct. 3, 2004 July 4, 2004 April 4, 2004 Jan. 4, 2004
Netsales ... 355,728 $54,454 $50,761 $50,842
Grossprofit .......... ... .. .. . . i 30,936 31,098 28,503 28,703
Income from operations ......................... 2,619 3,338 2,035 3,422
NEUIBCOME ..\ ottt et et 2,145 2,572 1,558 2,681
Basic earnings per common share ................. $ 023 $ 028 $ 017 $ 029
Diluted earnings per common and equivalent share . ... $§ 0.23 $ 0.28 $ 0.17 $ 029

Quarter Ended
(000’s omitted, except per share data) Sept. 28,2003  June 29,2003 March 30, 2003 Dec. 29, 2002
Netsales ..o $50,206 $44,716 $46,589 $43,092
Grossprofit ........ ... i 29,270 25,363 25,443 23,050
Income from operations ......................... 7,077 3,883 3,417 2,769
Netincome .........coiviiiiiinnennninnnnnn. 4,867 2,947 2,755 2,281
Basic earnings per common share ................. $ 0.54 $ 033 $ 031 $ 025
Diluted earnings per common and equivalent share . ... $ 0.53 $ 032 $ 0.30 $ 025

Note P-Subsequent Event

On October 5, 2004, the Company exercised its option to acquire Revivant Corporation of Sunnyvale,
California, the manufacturer of the AutoPulse™ Non-invasive Cardiac Support Pump (“AutoPulse™). The option
was part of an agreement entered into in August 2003, through which ZOLL invested $7 million in Revivant
preferred stock and provided $5 million of debt financing in exchange for a 15% stake in Revivant and the option
to acquire their remaining outstanding shares. The AutoPulse is an FDA-approved device that offers the potential
of restoring near-normal blood flow levels in victims of Sudden Cardiac Arrest (“SCA”). The acquisition
presents an opportunity to expand our presence in the resuscitation market. On October 12, 2004, the merger was
consummated and the selling shareholders, previously the shareholders of Revivant, received $15 million as the
initial merger consideration, of which $7.5 million was paid in cash and $7.5 million in ZOLL common stock
(224,300 shares). An additional 765,509 shares that have been registered may be delivered to the selling
shareholders based upon the contingent payment provisions of the merger agreement. The merger agreement
provides that the Company may make (i) milestone payments targeted at $15 million, tied to the completion of
certain clinical trials with the AutoPulse through 2006 and (ii) additional payments for the years 2005, 2006 and
2007 based on the growth of AutoPulse sales. In general, these additional payments will be a combination of cash
and our common stock.

The Company is completing its purchase price allocation and compiling proforma financial statements for
the acquisition; however, these figures are too preliminary for disclosure in these financial statements. The
figures will be available and filed with the SEC soon.

Note Q-Legal Proceedings

On December 10, 2004, a complaint was filed against Revivant Corporation by Dr. Thomas Fogarty and his
affiliate, alleging that Revivant owes a 4% royalty on all of its sales. The Company believes the suit is without
merit, Moreover, in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Revivant, the former stockholders of Revivant
specifically agreed to indemnify the Company against Dr. Fogarty’s claim for all amounts up to $15 million. The
Company has the right to set-off these indemnity claims against future contingent amounts payable by it as part
of the purchase price for Revivant.
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The Company has been informed by the federal government that it is conducting an investigation regarding
two sales of defibrillators in fiscal 2000 to a distributor, which were then allegedly trans-shipped to Iran without
the required export licenses. The Company is cooperating with the Department of Justice in connection with its
ongoing investigation, and have provided requested information. The two sales in question represented
approximately $150,000 of net income in fiscal 2000. Although it is premature to determine the likely outcome
of the investigation, it is possible that the Company may be subject to civil or criminal fines and sanctions as a
result of this matter.

In addition ito these matters the Company is, from time to time, involved in the normal course of its business
in various other, litigation matters and regulatory issues, including product recalls. Although the Company is
unable to quantiify at the present time the exact financial impact in any of these matters, it believes that none of
these other matters currently pending will have an outcome material to its financial condition or business.

Ttem 9. Changeé in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not Applicable.

Ttem SA. Com:lrbls and Procedures.

As of the ehd of the period covered by this report, an evaluation had been performed under the supervision
and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s management, including the CEQ and CFO, concluded
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of October 3, 2004. There have been no
significant changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ending October 3, 2004, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal
control over financial reporting.

The provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are effective for the Company for the
fiscal year 2005! In early 2003 we began a project to document, review and assess our system of internal control
and our disclosure controls and procedures. The Company is in the middle of this project to document, review,
test, evaluate and conclude on its systems of internal and disclosure controls. The Company expects to complete
its testing of its internal control systems by the end of fiscal 2005.

Item 9B. Other|Information.
Not Applicéble.
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Part 11T

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information appearing in our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”) under the caption “Proposal 1 - Election of a Class of Directors” is incorporated herein by
reference.

Information regarding Executive Officers of the Company is detailed below:

Executive Officers of Registrant

Name A_g_e Position

Richard A, Packer ................... 47  Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
A.EmestWhiton ................... 43 Vice President of Administration and Chief Financial Officer
Ward M. Hamilton .................. 57 Vice President, Marketing

DonaldR.Boucher .................. 52 Vice President, Research and Development
EJJones..........oooo i, 62  Vice President, International Operations

StevenK.Flora ..................... 53 Vice President, North American Sales

Edward T.Dunn .................... 51 Vice President, Operations

JohnP.Bergeron .................... 53 Vice President and Corporate Treasurer

VaneP.Clayton .................... 45 President, ZOLL Data Systems

Mr. Packer joined the Company in 1992 and in November 1999 was appointed Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Packer served as President, Chief Operating Officer and director from 1996 to his
appointment as CEQO. From 1992 to 1996 he served as Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Operations
of the Company. From 1987 to 1992 Mr. Packer served as Vice President of various functions for Whistler
Corporation, a consumer electronics company. Prior to this, Mr. Packer was a manager with the consulting firm
of PRTM/KPMG, specializing in operations of high technology companies. Mr. Packer received B.S. and
M. Eng. degrees from the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute and a M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of
Business Administration.

Mr. Whiton joined the Company as Vice President of Administration and Chief Financial Officer in January
1999. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Whiton was Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of lonics,
Inc., a global separations technology company, which he joined in 1993. Prior to Ionics, he was a manager at
Price Waterhouse. Mr. Whiton has received a B.S. in Accounting from Bentley College and a M.B.A. from the
Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Mr. Hamilton joined the Company as Vice President of Marketing in February 1992. Prior to this time, Mr.
Hamilton served from 1985 to 1991 as Director of New Business Development and Director of Marketing for
ACLS products for Laerdal Medical Corporation, a manufacturer of portable automated defibrillators, and from
1977 to 1985 as Marketing Manager for defibrillators and non-invasive blood pressure monitors for Datascope
Corporation. Mr. Hamilton received a B.A. in political science from Hartwick College and a M.P.A. from the
University of Southern California.

Mr. Boucher joined the Company as Vice President of Research and Development in December 1993. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Boucher served from 1977 to 1993 with Corometrics Medical Systems, Inc., a
manufacturer of fetal and neonatal monitors, most recently as Vice President of Engineering. Mr. Boucher
received a M.B.A. from the University of Connecticut, an M.S.E. in bioengineering from the University of
Pennsylvania, and a B.S. in engineering from Northeastern University.

Mr. Jones joined the Company as Vice President of International Operations in November 1998. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Jones was Vice President of Operations with Apple Medical Corporation. He also
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spent 15 years vivith Millipore Corporation, holding various positions in Domestic and International Sales. Mr.
Jones holds a B.S. in Microbiology/Biochemistry from the University of Illinois and is a graduate of the
Advanced Management Program (AMP) from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Mr. Flora joined the Company as Vice President of North American Sales in September 1998. Prior to
joining the Conﬁpany, Mr. Flora served from 1981 to 1998 in various positions with Marquette Medical systems,
a manufacturer qu cardiovascular and physiological monitoring systems, most recently as Vice President of Sales.
Mr. Flora receivjed his B.S. in Biology from the University of Illinois.

Mr. Dunn joined the Company as Director of Materials in April 1995. In November 1997, he was appointed
Vice President jof Operations. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Dunn was Materials Manager at Baird
Corporation, a manufacturer of spectrometers and night vision devices, which he joined in 1986. Prior to joining
Baird, Mr. Dunn was Manufacturing Manager at Chelsea Clock Company, a manufacturer of marine clocks. Mr.

Dunn received a B.S. in Industrial Engineering from Northeastern University.

Mr, Bergeron joined the Company as Vice President and Corporate Treasurer in August 2000. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Bergeron was Vice President at Ionics Corporation, a global separations technology
company, where he also served as Corporate Treasurer and Tax Director. Prior to joining Ionics in 1988, Mr.
Bergeron served in a variety of tax positions at other multinational corporations. Mr. Bergeron received a B.B.A.
from the University of Massachusetts at Amherst and a M.S. in Taxation from Bentley College.

Mr. Clayton joined the Company as President of ZOLL Data Systems in September of 2003, Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Clayton was President of TROY Wireless, a provider of WIFI and Bluetooth wireless software
and hardware products. Prior to joining TROY, Mr. Clayton was COO and later CEO of SOS Wireless
Communications. Prior to SOS, Mr. Clayton served from 1988 to 1993 at Raychem Corp, with his most recent
role as sales manager with the EloTouch division, which manufactures touch-screen products. Mr. Clayton has
received a B.S! in engineering from Purdue University and a M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of
Business Administration.

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to its principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and controller. This Code of Ethics was ratified by the Board of Directors in December 2003. This policy
became effective for all of ZOLL’s employees in June 2004. This Code of Ethics is available on our website,
www.zoll.com, under the heading Investor Relations, and is called “Code of Conduct”.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Proposal 1 - Election of a Class of
Directors - Executive Compensation” is incorporated herein by reference.

Ttem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

The information appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Proposal 1 - Election of a Class of
Directors” and “Other Matters - Principal and Management Stockholders™ is incorporated herein by reference.

Ttem 13. Certdin Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Proposal 1 - Election of a Class of
Directors - Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Prinéipal Accountants Fees and Services.

The information appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “Proposal 1 — Election of a Class of
Directors — Independent Auditors” is incorporated herein by reference.
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Classifications

Year Ended October 3, 2004

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . .

Year Ended September 28, 2003

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ..

Year Ended September 29, 2002

Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ..

Balance
Beginning of
Period

Additions
Charged to
Costs
and Balance At End
Expenses Deductions of Period

............... $4,689,000

$1,181,000 $1,015,000  $4,855,000

............... $3,462,000

$1,694,000 $ 467,000 $4,689,000

............... $2,780,000

$1,009,000 $ 327,000 $3,462,000
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PartIV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@)D

@(2)

(@)(3)
3.1
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4.1

10.1

10.2

103

10.4

10.10

10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17

211
23.1
311

The following Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes thereto and Independent Auditors™ Report are set
forth under Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Income Statements

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule is included herein:
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not presented, the amounts are
not sufficient to require submission of the schedules or because the information is included in the
consolidated financial statements.

The following is a complete list of Exhibits filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report:
Restate(ji Articles of Organization. (2)

Amended and Restated By-laws. (2)

Shareholders Rights Plan. (5)

Amendjed and Restated 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. (9)

1992 Séock Option Plan. (2)

1983 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated February 6, 1990. (2)

Revolving Loan and Security Agreement dated March 9, 1992 between the Company and Brown Brothers
Harriman & Co. (2)

Employment Agreement dated July 19, 1996 between the Company and Richard A. Packer regarding Mr.
Packeris employment. (3)

Non Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan. (6)

Seniori Executive Severance Agreement dated January 21, 2000 between the Company and Richard
A. Packer. (7)

Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between the Company and
A. Ernest Whiton. (10)

Code of Conduct (8)
2001 Stock Incentive Plan (1)
Form of Option Agreement under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (9)

Executive Severance Agreements by and between the Company and each of Ward Hamilton, Donald
Boucher, E.J.Jones, Steve Flora and Edward Dunn. (10)

Subsidiaries of the Company. (10)
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP (4)
Ceﬁiﬁcation of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (4)
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31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (4)
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (4)
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (4)

Foototes:

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, under the Securities
Act of 1933 (Registration Statement No. 33-3101839 filed with the SEC on December 13, 2003).

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, under the
Securities Act of 1933 (Registration Statement No. 33-47937 filed with the SEC on May 15, 1992).

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report for 1996 on Form 10-K, as amended, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 27, 1996.

(4) Filed herewith.

(5) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 11, 1998. '

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, under the Securities
Act of 1933 (Registration Statement No. 33-368401 filed with the SEC on December 4, 1998).

(7) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report for 2000 on Form 10-K, as amended, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 29, 2000.

(8) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report for 2003 on Form 10-K, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 19, 2003.

(9) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, under the Securities
Act of 1933 (Registration Statement No. 333-120310 filed with the SEC on November 9, 2004).

10) Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Annual Report for 2004 on Form 10-K, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 20, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to!the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on December
23, 2004.

ZOLL Medical Corporation

By: /s/  RICHARD A. PACKER

Richard A. Packer
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ RJCi{ARD A. PACKER

ﬁichard A. Packer

/s/ A.ERNEST WHITON

J&. Ernest Whiton

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and President (Principal Executive
Officer)

Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

December 23, 2004

December 23, 2004

/s/  'WILLARD M. BRIGHT, PH.D. Director December 23, 2004

Willard M. Bright, Ph.D.

/s/ THoﬂwAs M. CLAFLIN, 1T Director December 23, 2004

Thomas M, Claflin, IT

fs/  JaAMES W. BionpI, M.D. Director December 23, 2004

James W. Biondi, M.D.

Is/ DAMEL M. MULVENA Director December 23, 2004

Daniel M. Mulvena

/s/ BENSON F. SMITH Director
" Benson F. Smith

Decem‘ber 23, 2004

/s/ ROBERT J. HALLIDAY Director December 23, 2004

'Robert J. Halliday
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Novel Devices that Improve Circulation. Successful resuscitation often requires more
. than defibrillation. ZOLL is committed to bringing to market easy-to-use, clinically

superior technology that quickly addresses the need to improve circulation.

The AutoPulse Non-invasive Cardiac Support Pump Users have called the AutoPulse the single most

offers the potential of restoring normal blood flow levels important development in the treatment of SCA in the
in SCA victims. This suggests an enormous potential to past 30 years. In its first year of commercial availability,
help save lives lost today using current techniques such as more than 90 U.S. customers have purchased the
manual chest compressions. The AutoPulse compresses AutoPulse and are using it today as part of their

the entire chest in a consistent “hands-free” manner, resuscitation protocols.

moving much more blood more effectively than manual

chest compressions.

“If I were asked by our hospital budget committee

about which device would take our response team
into the 2Ist century, when responding to codes in

“The AutoPulse is as revolutionary as the discovery of

cardiac defibrillation. It performs chest compressions the Emergency Department or on the floor, | would

definitely recommend the AutoPulse.”

— Stephen Knight, M.D.
Florida Emergency Physician

better than any firefighter, paramedic, doctor, trauma
surgeon, or anyone who does CPR.”’

— Captain Jeff Youngsma, Paramedic
Fremont Fire Department

Recent research shows that overventilating patients
during CPR is often a problem and
can impede resuscitation success,

by significantly decreasing coronary
perfusion pressures and survival rates.
The ResQPOD® has been shown to
double blood flow with manual CPR.

It alsc provides timing lights that |
flash every five seconds, helping
rescuers time ventilations better, a
critical factor in improving

blood flow to the heart.







A Critical Need to Improve Resuscitation Practices. Sudden cardiac death is
the largest public health issue teday. More than 1,000 useful lives are lost each

day in the U.S. alone because of poor cardiopulmonary resuscitation outcomes.

Defibrillation, while critically important, is only appropriate What has made ZOLL successful in the traditional
for about half of the victims of SCA. Other support defibrillation market—clinical superiority, simplicity.
devices that are adjuncts to defibrillation must become and ease of use—will make us successful in providing
more widely used so that more lives can be saved. solutions that can help healthcare professionals and lay
Moving survival upwards a mere |% transiates into rescuers improve survival. With more than 20 vears of
10,000 more lives saved each year. ZOLL is dedicated solving clinical issues through innovation and quality,
to providing technology that can help rescuers battle ZOLL is now at the forefront of advancing resuscitation
SCA more effectively. by offering a broad range of technologies that clinicians

believe can dramatically improve survival rates.

Resuscitation is our business. It will remain our focus.

“The world stands on the verge of new therapies and technologies that could save
thousands of lives that are currently lost ...”
— Post-Resuscitative and Initial Utility in

Life Saving Efforts (PULSE) Workshop
Circulation: 2001;103:1182—1184.

\ Documentation
- Defibrillation
and CPR

Support Fluid Resuscitation




2004 Highlights
o |Posted sales of $211.8 million.
o [Now the leader in the North American Hospital Market, with sales of $88.1 million.
o [Ended the year with no debt and $59.0 million in cash and short-term investments.
o [In October 2004, acquired Revivant Corporation, maker of the AutoPulse,

a device that ﬁé improving resuscitation practices in hospital and pre-hospital

settings worldwide.

Officers and Directors
Richard A. Packer i
Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer

A, Ernest Whiton
Vice President of Administration & Chief Financial Officer

Ward M, Hamilton
Vice President, Marketing

* Donald R Boucher o
Vice President, Research & Development

E) Jones
Vice President, International Operations

Steven K Flora
Vice President, North American Sales

Edward T. Dunn
Vice President, Operations

John F Bergeron
Vice President & Corporate Treasurer

Willard M. Bright, Ph. D.
Director & Chairman Emeritus

Thomas M. Claflin 11*
Director

Daniel M, Mulvena*t
Director

lames W, Biondi, M.D.t*
Director

Benson F. Smith#
Director

Robert J. Halliday *
Director

*Member of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
tMember of the Compensation Cammittee

#Member of the Audit Committee
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ZOLL Medical Corporation Common Stock is traded on the
NASDAQ National Market Sy}stem under the symbol “ZOLL”

Transfer Agent .
Equiserve Trust Company, N.A.
PO.Box 43023 -~
Providence, RI 029&0-3023 L
www.equiserve.com
877-282-1169

General Counsel QiAo e
Goodwin Procter LLP g 4
Boston, Massachusetts

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. on
February 8,2005, at Goodwin \Procter LLP, Conference Center,
Exchange Place, 53 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts.
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Information Request

You may request a copy of ouri Form 10-K, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. This document, along with
our Form 10-K, constitutes ZOLL's 2004 Annual Report. If there
is no Form 10-K, you do not have a complete Annual Report.

It may be downloaded from the ZOLL web site, www.zoll.com.
It also can be obtained upon written request to the Company
at

Stockholder Relations

ZOLL Medical Corporation
269 Mill Road

Chelmsford, MA 01824-4105

© 2004 ZOLL Medical Corporation. All rights reserved. 262 Mill Road, Chelmsford,
MA, 01824-4105, ResQPOD is a registered trademark of Advanced Circulatory
Systems, Inc. AED Plus, AutoPuise, CodeNet, CPR-Depadz, Life+Padz,

M Series, PD 1400, and Rectilinear Biphasic are trademarks of ZOLL Medical
Corporation. NTP Power Infuser, and ZOLL are registered trademarks of ZOLL
Medical Corporation. Al trademarks are property of their respective owners.
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vyyoridwide Fleaaquarters
) 269 Mill Road
Chelmsford, MA 01824
978-421-9655

ZOLL Medical Canada
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada
905-629-5005

ZOLL Medical Latin America
Parkland, FL
954-345-4224

ZOLL Medical U.K.
Cheshire, United Kingdom
+44 1925 846 400

ZOLL Medical France
Coigniéres, France
+3313005 1498

ZOLL Medical Europe
Dodewaard, The Netherlands
+31 488411 183

ZOLL Medical Germany
Cologne, Germany
+49 2236 87870

. ZOLL Medical Austria
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£= +43 650 4136222
S0
£0
2 2
% g
5 2
2 @
=
O
W S
% =
; 8 g,
Cag, 8 ¢ O%U@\ Prmonr®
S T

ﬁl@é

ZOLL Medical Middle East and Africa
Athens, Greece
+30 210 6236691

ZOLL Medical Russia
Moscow, Russia
+70 95 936 2338

ZOLL Medical India
Mumbai, India
+91 22 28322423

ZOLL Medical China
Hong Kong, China
+852 3124 5066

ZOLL Medical Japan
Yokohama City, Japan
+81 45 905 2864

ZOLL Medical Asia Pacific
Lisarow, Australia
+61 418 289733

ZOLL Medical Australia

New South Wales, Australia
+61 2 9420 8733
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Advancing Resuscitation. Today.

~




